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 AGENDA 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

PORTLAND WATER DISTRICT 

225 Douglass Street, Portland, Maine 

Jeff P. Nixon Training Center 

6:00 p.m., Monday, May 23, 2022 

 

1.  Convene Meeting with Pledge of Allegiance and moment of 

silence.   

President Douglas 

2. Roll Call    Clerk 

3a. Acceptance of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of April 25, 2022. President Douglas 

3b. Acceptance of Minutes of the Workshop Meeting of May 9, 2022. President Douglas 

4. Invitation for Public Comment President Douglas 

5. Reports:  

  Operations Committee Reports  Trustee Rich 

  Planning Committee Reports  Trustee Shattuck-Heidorn 

  Administration & Finance Committee Reports  Trustee Siviski 

  General Manager’s Report General Manager 

6. New Business  

 A. Public Hearing authorizing the issuance of sewer bonds. Administration & Finance 

Committee 

 B. Resolution 22-007 authorizing the issuance of up to 

$5,490,000 in sewer bonds to finance upgrades to the 

electrical system at the East End Treatment Plant and 

Northeast Pump Station in Portland. 

Administration & Finance 

Committee 

 C. Resolution 22-008 accepting the Audit Report for 2021. Administration & Finance 

Committee 

 D. Resolution 22-009 ratifying the General Manager’s signing 

of the Applicant Agreement to Comply with 2022 Clean 

Water State Revolving Fund Requirements. 

Administration & Finance 

Committee 

 E. Order 22-024 authorizing the Comprehensive Method for 

the procurement of engineering services for the SLWTF 

Windham Pump Upgrades, Cape Elizabeth WWTF Aeration 

and Clarification Upgrades, and the East End WWTF 

Return Sludge Piping Replacement Projects. 

Operations Committee 

 F. Order 22-025 authorizing the amendments to the Portland 

Water District Wastewater Disposal System Rules. 

Planning Committee 

 G. Resolution 22-010 increasing the annual funding limit for 

water bottle filling station grants. 

Vice-President Lunt 



7. Other Business.  

Consultation with Spano Pratt Executive Search regarding 

selection of the next General Manager. 

President Douglas 

 

8. Second Invitation for Public Comment. President Douglas 

9. Trustee Comments. President Douglas 

10. Executive Session. A motion may be made to go into 

Executive Session at any time during the meeting to discuss, 

pursuant to 1 M.R.S. §405(6)(A) personnel, 1 M.R.S. 

§405(6)(C) real estate, 1 M.R.S. §405 (6)(D) labor 

negotiations, or 1 M.R.S. §405(6)(E) legal matters. 

President Douglas 

11.   Adjournment. President Douglas 

         

        Donna M. Katsiaficas 

        Clerk    
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES / AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item: 6A-B Resolution 22-007 

Date of Meeting:  May 23, 2022 

Subject: Portland Sewer Bond - $5,490,000   

Presented By: David Kane, Director of Administration 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

The following proposed language is presented for Board of Trustee approval: 

 

RESOLVED, the issuance of up to $5,490,000 of Portland Sewer Bonds is 

hereby authorized to finance upgrades to the electrical system at the East End 

Treatment Plant and Northeast Pump Station in Portland and other related 

infrastructure upgrades and improvements. The full form of the Resolution is 

attached hereto and incorporated as part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS 

At the February 22, 2021 Board meeting, a motion was approved authorizing a $4.79M project 

budget to the electrical system at Portland’s East End Wastewater treatment plant and Northeast 

Pump Station. The proposed upgrades will provide a new power distribution system with 

enhanced resiliency and monitoring through the District’s SCADA system. 

 

Two related projects – bisulfite building power feed and standby generator – were included in the 

SRF financing request and were approved by the DEP. The $100,000 power feed project was 

approved as part of the 2022 CIP (project 21/3237). The $600,000 standby generator was 

approved as part of the 2021 CIP (project 21/3236). Both projects were budgeted to be funded 

from the Renewal and Replacement fund. Since the projects have already been approved for SRF 

funding, the current interest rate is only 1% and the Renewal and Replacement fund has a planned 

2022 deficit, it is recommended to approve the motion to issue a bond for up to $5.49 million. 

 

FISCAL REVIEW / FUNDING  
The first full year’s debt service payment is estimated to be $346,000. The estimated payment is 

$44,000 higher than the amount that was incorporated into the Portland Wastewater fund’s 

assessment forecast provided to the City. 

 

LEGAL REVIEW 
Corporate Counsel has reviewed the proposed Resolution as to form. 

 

CONCLUSION(S) 
Staff recommended the motion be approved. The Committee recommended the motion be 

forwarded to the full Board for its consideration. 
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ATTACHMENT(S) 
A. Full Form of Motion  

B. Amortization Schedule 
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Attachment A 

 

PORTLAND WATER DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION OF BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

AUTHORIZING SEWER BONDS IN THE AGGREGATE 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $5,490,000 

WHEREAS, the Portland Water District (the “District”) intends to finance the Costs (as 

defined herein) upgrades to the electrical system at the East End Treatment Plant and Northeast 

Pump Station in Portland and other related infrastructure upgrades and improvements (the 

“Project”); 

WHEREAS, the District desires to finance the Costs of such Project by issuing its sewer 

bonds in the maximum aggregate amount of $5,490,000 and to borrow such money through the 

Maine Municipal Bond Bank’s Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund program or its general 

resolution borrowing program or other qualified purchaser of the bonds or a combination thereof; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the 

Portland Water District (the “Board”) Assembled, following a public hearing duly called, noticed 

and held under District Policy No. 6.50-15: 

THAT: Pursuant to the District’s Charter, Chapter 84 of the Private and Special Laws of 1975 

and all amendments thereof and acts additional thereto, and all other authority thereto 

enabling, there is hereby authorized and approved the issuance of the District’s sewer 

bonds (the “Bonds”), and notes in anticipation thereof, in the aggregate principal amount 

not to exceed $5,490,000, the proceeds of which are appropriated for and shall be used 

to finance the Costs of the Project. 

THAT: The Treasurer be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name of and on behalf 

of the District, to issue the Bonds and notes authorized hereby through a public offering 

(on a competitive or negotiated basis or a combination thereof) or through the Maine 

Municipal Bond Bank’s Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund programs or its general 

resolution borrowing program or to another qualified purchaser of the Bonds or a 

combination thereof, all as the Treasurer shall determine to be appropriate in his sole 

discretion. 

THAT: Each Bond or note authorized hereby shall be signed in the name of and on behalf of the 

District, by the Treasurer and the President of the District, and shall be sealed with the 

seal of the District, attested to by its Clerk. 

THAT: The Treasurer be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name of and on behalf 

of the District, to establish, determine and approve the form, date(s), maturity(ies) (not 

to exceed 40 years from the date(s) of issuance), denomination(s), interest rate(s), 

place(s) of payment, and other details of the Bonds and notes authorized hereby, 

including the timing and provision for their sale and award, and to provide that any of 

such Bonds and notes may be made subject to call for redemption, with or without a 

premium, before the stated maturity date(s) of such Bonds or notes, such establishment, 

determination and approval to be conclusively evidenced by his execution thereof. 

THAT:  The Treasurer be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name of and on behalf 

of the District, to do or cause to be done all such acts and things, and to execute, deliver, 
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file, approve, and record all such financing documents, contracts, agreements, deeds, 

assignments, certificates, memoranda, abstracts, and other documents (collectively with 

any other agreements authorized herein, referred to as the “Bond Documents”) as may 

be necessary or advisable, with the advice of counsel for the District, to carry out the 

provisions of these resolutions in connection with the Project, the issuance, sale, and 

delivery by the District of the Bonds and the execution and delivery of the documents, 

including the entering into of loan agreements or interim loan agreements with the Bond 

Bank, should the Bonds and notes (or any portion thereof) be purchased by the Bond 

Bank, the entering into of investment agreements regarding the proceeds of the Bond 

and notes hereinabove authorized, and the waiving of the District’s sovereign or 

governmental immunity with respect to the enforceability of any of the forgoing. 

THAT:  If the Bonds or notes (or a portion thereof) are issued in a public offering, the Treasurer 

be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name of and on behalf of the District, 

to select the underwriter for such Bonds and notes and the Treasurer be and hereby is 

authorized and empowered to execute and deliver such contracts or agreements as may 

be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith. 

THAT:  If the Bonds or notes (or a portion thereof) are issued in a public offering, the Treasurer 

be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name of and on behalf of the District, 

to prepare, or cause to be prepared, a Preliminary Official Statement and an Official 

Statement for use in the offering and sale of such Bonds and notes, such Preliminary 

Official Statement and Official Statement to be in such form and contain such 

information as may be approved by the Treasurer, and that the use and distribution of the 

Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement in the name of and on behalf 

of the District in connection with offering such Bonds and notes for sale be and hereby 

is approved. 

THAT:  If the Bonds or notes (or any portion thereof) are issued to the Maine Municipal Bond 

Bank (the “Bond Bank”) pursuant to the State’s Clean Water Revolving Loan Fund 

program established under Title 30-A, §§5953-A and 6006-A, or its general borrowing 

program established under Title 30-A, §5953, the Treasurer and the President of the 

District be and hereby are authorized and empowered, in the name and on behalf of the 

District, to execute and deliver, under the seal of the District attested by its Clerk, one or 

more loan agreements between the District and the Bond Bank providing for loans from 

the Bond Bank to the District in an amount not to exceed such amount, said loan 

agreements to be in the usual and ordinary form utilized by the Bond Bank in connection 

with the Clean Water Revolving Loan Fund program or its general borrowing program, 

which is hereby approved, and to contain such other terms and provisions, not contrary 

to the general tenor hereof, as the Treasure and the President of the District may approve, 

their approval to be conclusively evidenced by the execution thereof. 

THAT:  The Treasurer be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name of and on behalf 

of the District, to select the registrar, paying agent and transfer agent (the “Transfer 

Agent”) for the Bonds and notes hereinbefore authorized and to execute and deliver such 

contracts and agreements as may be necessary or appropriate to secure their services. 

THAT:  If the Bonds and notes (or any portion thereof) hereinbefore authorized are issued on a 

tax-exempt basis, the Treasurer be and hereby is authorized to covenant and certify in 

the name of and on behalf of the District that no part of the proceeds of the issue and sale 

of such Bonds and notes shall be used directly or indirectly (a) to acquire any securities 

or obligations, the acquisition of which would cause such Bonds or notes to be “arbitrage 
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bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 

amended (the “Code”), or (b) to cause such notes or Bonds to be “private activity bonds” 

within the meaning of Section 141 of the Code. 

THAT: If the Bonds and notes (or any portion thereof) hereinbefore authorized are issued on a 

tax-exempt basis, the Treasurer be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name 

of and on behalf of the District, to designate such Bonds and notes as qualified tax-

exempt obligations for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code, to the extent such 

designation is available and permissible under said Section 265(b)(3). 

THAT:  If the Bonds and notes (or any portion thereof) hereinbefore authorized are issued on a 

tax-exempt basis, the Treasurer be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name 

of and on behalf of the District, to covenant and agree, for the benefit of the holders of 

such Bonds or notes, that the District will file any required reports and take any other 

action that may be necessary to ensure that interest on the Bonds or notes will remain 

exempt from federal income taxation, and that the District will refrain from any action 

that would cause interest on such Bonds or notes to be subject to federal income taxation. 

THAT:  The term “Cost” or “Costs” as used herein and applied to the Project, or any portion 

thereof, includes, but is not limited to (1) the purchase price or acquisition cost of all or 

any portion of the Project; (2) the cost to design, construct, renovate, improve, furnish 

and equip the Project; (3) the cost of land, easements and other real property interests, 

landscaping and site preparation, all appurtenances and other fixtures, facilities, 

buildings and structures either on, above, or under the ground which are used or usable 

in connection with the Project; (4) the cost of feasibility studies, surveys, environmental 

studies and assessments, engineering, plans and specifications, legal and other 

professional services associated with the Projects; and (5)  issuance costs, including 

premiums for insurance, capitalized interest and other fees and expenses relating to the 

financing transaction. 

THAT:  The investment earnings on the proceeds of the Bonds and notes hereinbefore authorized, 

if any, and the excess proceeds of such Bonds and notes (including premium), if any, be 

and hereby are appropriated for the following purposes, such proceeds to be held and 

applied in the order of priority determined by the Treasurer, for the following purposes: 

1. To any Costs of the Project in excess of the principal amount of the Bonds or notes; 

2. If issued on a tax-exempt basis, in accordance with applicable terms and provisions 

of the Arbitrage and the Use of Proceeds Certificate delivered in connection with the 

sale of the Bonds or notes; 

3. To pay debt service on the Bonds; and 

4. To the District’s general fund. 

THAT:   The District covenants to establish, maintain, apportion and collect fees, charges and 

assessments for sewer and wastewater services furnished by the District, to pay when 

due current expenses of operating and maintaining the sewer system and to pay when 

due principal, interest and premium, if any, of all outstanding sewer indebtedness, 

including any Bonds hereinabove authorized, created or assumed by the District to 

provide a waste water and sewage system or otherwise for sewer purposes. 
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THAT:  If the Treasurer, President of the District or Clerk are for any reason unavailable to 

approve and execute the Bonds and notes hereinbefore authorized, or any of the Bond 

Documents to be delivered with respect thereto, the person or persons then acting in any 

such capacity, whether as an assistant or a deputy, on an acting or interim basis or 

otherwise, is authorized to act for such official with the same force and effect as if such 

person had himself or herself performed such act. 

THAT:  If any authorized representative of the District who has signed or sealed the Bonds and 

notes hereinbefore authorized shall cease to be such officer or official before the Bonds 

or notes so signed and sealed shall have been actually delivered by the District and / or 

authenticated, such Bonds or notes nevertheless may be issued, delivered and 

authenticated with the same force and effect as though the person or persons who signed 

or sealed such Bonds notes had not ceased to be such officer or official. also any such 

Bonds or notes may be signed and sealed in the name of and on behalf of the District by 

those persons who, at the actual date of the execution of such Bonds or notes, shall be 

the proper officers and officials of the District, although at the nominal date of such 

Bonds or notes any such person shall not have been such officer or official. 

THAT:  If the Bonds or notes authorized hereunder, or any portion of them, are issued through 

the Clean Water Revolving Loan Fund Program, the following resolutions required by 

Section C(4)(e) of the State of Maine Revolving Loan Fund Rules, Chapter 595, 

Department of Environmental Protection and the Bond Bank (the “SRF Regulations”), 

and governing any loan to be made to the District under the State Revolving Loan Fund 

Program be and hereby are adopted with respect to the said Bonds or notes issued through 

the Clean Water Revolving Loan Fund Program: 

 

 (1) that a Project Account shall be created for the Project which shall be separate from 

all other accounts of the District.  If operating revenues are to be used to retire the debt, 

a sub-account will be established. 

 

 (2) that the Project Account shall be maintained in accordance with standards set forth 

by the Maine Municipal Bond Bank and in accordance with generally accepted 

government account standards. 

 

 (3) that a final accounting shall be made to the Bond Bank of the total cost of the Project 

upon completion of the Project performance certification as set out in Section G(3) of 

the SRF Regulations and the District acknowledges that the Bond Bank reserves the right 

at its sole discretion to be provided with a cost certification of the Project as built. 

 

 (4) that an annual audit of the District, prepared by a certified public accountant or 

licensed public accountant be provided to the Bond Bank for the term of the loan. 

 

 (5) that the District shall maintain insurance coverage on the Project in an amount 

adequate to protect the Bond Bank’s interest for the term of the loan with the Bond Bank 

named as loss payee. 

 

 (6) that the District will comply with any special conditions specified by the Department 

of Environmental Protection’s environmental determination until all financial 

obligations to the State have been discharged. 
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 (7) that the District certify to the Bond Bank that it has secured all permits, licenses and 

approvals necessary and that it has a dedicated source of revenue for repayment. 

 

 (8) that the District establish a rate, charge or assessment schedule in order to pay 

principal and interest.  Such rate change or schedule shall provide total operations and 

debt service coverage at a level at which the coverage for the Bond Bank is sufficient. 

 

 (9) that the District must demonstrate the ability to pay reasonably anticipated costs of 

operating and maintaining the financed Project. 

 

 (10) that the District abide by the SRF Regulations, as revised and amended and relevant 

State statutes of the State of Maine. 

THAT: During the term any of the Bonds are outstanding, in order to obtain additional debt 

service savings, the Treasurer be and hereby is authorized and empowered, in the name 

of and on behalf of the District, to issue and deliver refunding bonds, on either a current 

or advance refunding basis, to refund some or all of the Bonds then outstanding, and to 

establish, determine and approve the form, date(s), maturity(ies) (not to exceed 40 years 

from the date of issuance of the original Bonds), denomination(s), interest rate(s), 

place(s) of payment, and other details of the Bonds and notes authorized hereby, 

including the timing and provision for their sale and award, and to provide that any of 

such refunding bonds may be made subject to call for redemption, with or without a 

premium, before the stated maturity date(s) of such refunding bonds, and all other details 

of such refunding bonds, including the form and manner of their sale and award, and to 

execute and deliver, all in the name of and on behalf of the District, such establishment, 

determination and approval to be conclusively evidenced by his execution thereof, and 

each refunding bond issued hereunder shall be signed by the Treasurer and the President 

of the District, and shall be sealed with the seal of the District, attested to by its Clerk. 
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES / AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item:   6C Resolution 22-008 

Date of Meeting:   May 23, 2022   

Subject:    2021 Audit Report   

Presented By:    Thomas Quirk, Finance Director  

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

The following proposed language is presented for Board of Trustee approval: 

 

WHEREAS, the Bylaws of the District require that an annual audit report on the financial 

affairs of the District be presented to the Board of Trustees for acceptance, and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees previously appointed the accounting firm of 

Wipfli LLC to conduct the audit of 2021 financial affairs, and 

 

WHEREAS, Wipfli LLC has conducted the audit of 2021 and presented their unqualified 

opinion to the Board of Trustees, 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees accepts the 

Audit Report for 2021 and authorizes its distribution as required by Section 21 of the 

Charter of the District. 

 

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS 

On May 9, 2022, Wipfli LLC presented the results of the 2021 audit to the Administration and 

Finance Committee. The items presented were: 

-  Auditor’s Communication to the Board of Trustees; 

-  Financial Report for the year ending December 31, 2021; 

- Single Audit  

 

ANALYSIS 

Government Auditing Standards require independent auditors to report: 

-  The scope and timing of the audit; 

-  Significant audit findings; 

-  Difficulties encountered in performing the audit; 

-  Corrected and uncorrected misstatement; 

-  Disagreements with management; 

-  Management representations; 

-  Management consultations with other independent accountants, and 

-  Other audit findings or issues. 

 

 



 

 

FISCAL REVIEW / FUNDING 

None 

 

LEGAL REVIEW 

Corporate Counsel reviewed the proposed motion and approved it as to form. 

 

CONCLUSION 

The Committee recommended the motion accepting the auditor’s report be forwarded to the full 

Board for its consideration. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S) 

A - Auditors Communication to the Board of Trustees 

B - Financial Report for the year ending December 31, 2021 

C - Single Audit 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 30 Long Creek Drive 207 774 5701 
South  South Portland, ME 04106 wipfli.com 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

                                        
 
 
 
 
April 27, 2022 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Portland Water District 
Portland, Maine 
 
Dear Board of Trustees 
 
We have audited the financial statements of each major fund of Portland Water District (the “District”) for the 
year ended December 31, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated April 27, 2022.  Professional 
standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit: 
 
Our Responsibility Under Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United States, Government 
Auditing Standards, and Uniform Guidance 
 
As stated in our engagement letter dated March 15, 2022, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your 
oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States.  Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of 
your responsibilities. 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we also performed tests of the District’s compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grants.  However, the objective of our tests was not to provide an opinion on compliance with 
such provisions. 
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 
 
We performed the audit according to the planned scope, timing, and with respect to significant risks identified by 
us, all of which were previously communicated to your representative, Louise G. Douglas, Board of Trustees, 
President, in our meeting about such matters on March 9, 2022, in addition to our engagement letter dated 
March 15, 2022 accepted by Carrie Lewis, General Manager. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant 
accounting policies used by the Company are described in Note 1 of the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2021.  
 
We noted no transactions entered into by the District during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus.  All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the 
proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were as follows: 
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Management’s estimate of the District’s depreciation of capital assets is based on estimated useful 
lives. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the useful lives and calculation of 
depreciation in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
Management’s estimate of the actuarial net pension liabilities as of December 31, 2021 is based on 
amounts calculated by the District’s consulting actuary. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop the estimate in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. 
 
Management’s estimate of the accrued sick liability as of December 31, 2021 is based on amounts 
calculated by the District’s consulting actuary in accordance with the vesting method of Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 16. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 
develop the estimate in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as 
a whole. 
 
Management’s estimate of the value of the District’s contributed capital is based on the District’s 
estimated costs. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimate in 
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. Certain financial statement 
disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement users. The most 
sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements are as follows: 
 

The disclosure of pension plans in Note 4 to the financial statements is significant to the financial 
statements as it is important for the users of the financial statements to understand the defined benefit 
plan provided to employees and the potential future benefit obligations of the District. 

 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. The attached 
schedule summarizes uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements. Management has determined that 
their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. The 
uncorrected misstatements or the matters underlying them could potentially cause future period financial 
statements to be materially misstated, even though, in our judgement, such uncorrected misstatements are 
immaterial to the financial statements under audit. In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of 
audit procedures and corrected by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each 
opinion unit's financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Disagreements With Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the 
auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter, dated April 27, 2022, a copy of which accompanies this letter. 
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Management Consultations With Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation involves the application of 
an accounting principle to the District’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion 
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to 
check with us to determine that the consultant has all of the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no 
such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors.  However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition of our 
retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information Accompanying Audited Financial Statements 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the Management Discussion and Analysis and Schedules of Changes in 
the District’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios – Bargaining and Non-Bargaining Unit Pension Plan, 
Schedule of Investment Returns, Schedule of District’s Contributions, and Schedule of Investment Returns Annual 
Money-Weighted Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expenses, which are required supplementary information 
(RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the RSI. 
 
Supplementary Information Accompanying Audited Financial Statements 
 
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, the 
method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in 
relation to our audit of the financial statements.  We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to 
the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves. 
 
Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 
 
The auditor’s responsibility for other information in documents containing audited financial statements does not 
extend beyond the financial information identified in our report, and we have no obligation to perform any 
procedures to corroborate other information contained in a document.  Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether such information, or the manner of its presentation, is materially inconsistent 
with information, or the manner of its presentation, appearing in the financial statements.  
 
We have read the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and have found no material inconsistencies with the 
information appearing in the audited financial statements. 
 
In relation to the preceding paragraph, we remind District management of the following clause in the 
engagement letter: 
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If the District intends to reproduce or publish these financial statements, or any portion thereof whether in paper 
or electronic form, and make reference to our firm name in connection therewith, management agrees to provide 
us with proofs in sufficient time for our review and written approval before printing. If in our professional 
judgment the circumstances require, we may withhold our approval. The District agrees to compensate Wipfli for 
the time associated with such review. 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management and the Board of Trustees 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.  
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to Portland Water District.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Wipfli LLP   
South Portland, Maine 
April 27, 2022 
 
Attachments 
 

ChapmaA
Wipfli signature stamp
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Independent $XGLWRU¶V Report

To the Board of Trustees
Portland Water District
Portland, Maine

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of each major fund of Portland Water District (the District), 
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise Portland Water District¶V�EDVLF�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DV�OLVWHG�LQ�WKH�WDEOH�RI�FRQWHQWV�

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of each major fund of Portland Water District, as of December 31, 2021, and the respective changes in 
financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
*HQHUDO� RI� WKH� 8QLWHG� 6WDWHV�� 2XU� UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV� XQGHU� WKRVH� VWDQGDUGV� DUH� IXUWKHU� GHVFULEHG� LQ� WKH� $XGLWRU¶V�
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of 
Portland Water District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance 
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Portland Water District¶V�DELOLW\�WR continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that 
may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.



To the Board of Trustees
Portland Water District

2

$XGLWRU¶V Responsibility for the Audit of Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
PDWHULDO�PLVVWDWHPHQW��ZKHWKHU� GXH� WR� IUDXG� RU� HUURU�� DQG� WR� LVVXH� DQ� DXGLWRU¶V� UHSRUW� WKDW� LQFOXGHV�RXU� RSLQLRQV�
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, 
we:

x Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, 
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Portland Water District¶V�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO��$FFRUGLQJO\��QR�VXFK�RSLQLRQ�LV�expressed.

x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

x Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about the Portland Water District¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�going concern for a reasonable 
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified
during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States require that the MDQDJHPHQW¶V�Discussion and Analysis 
pages 4-18 and Schedules of Changes in the District's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios - Bargaining and Non-
Bargaining Unit Pension Plan, Schedule of Investment Returns, Schedule of District's Contributions, and Schedule of 
Investment Returns Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expense on pages 63-68 be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part 
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency wLWK�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�UHVSRQVHV�WR�RXU�
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do 
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 27, 2022 on our
consideration of the Portland Water District¶V� LQWHUQDO� FRQWURO� RYHU� ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� DQG� RQ� RXU� WHVWV� RI� LWV�
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The 
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Portland Water 
District¶V� LQWHUQDO� FRQWURO� RYHU� ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� RU� RQ� FRPSOLDQFH�� 7KDW� UHSRUW� LV� DQ� LQWHJUDO� SDUW� RI� DQ audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Portland Water District¶V� LQWHUQDO�
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Wipfli LLP
South Portland, Maine
April 27, 2022

ChapmaA
Wipfli signature stamp
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,QWURGXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV

Overview of Financial Report

The Portland Water District (the District) is a quasi-municipal organization providing water and wastewater 
services. The District uses eight proprietary funds that are financed and operated in a manner similar to 
private businesses and two pension trust funds. The District's Water Fund serves eleven towns and cities in 
the greater Portland, Maine area. The District's seven Wastewater Funds serve the following Maine 
municipalities: Cape Elizabeth, Cumberland, Falmouth, Gorham, Portland, Westbrook and Windham.

This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) serves as an introduction to the audited basic financial 
statements and notes. The MD&A is the District management's analysis of its financial condition and 
performance. It is presented to give the reader more insight into the District's finances.

The District's basic financial statements include the:
x Statement of Net Position
x Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
x Statement of Cash Flows
x Statement of Fiduciary Net Position/Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
x Notes to Financial Statements

Financial Highlights

The 'LVWULFW¶V�ILQDQFLDO�Fondition remained strong in 2021.

Change in Net Position before Contributions ± This item was a gain of $4.44 million in 2021.

In 2021 the District was awarded a five (5) year, $8.0 million watershed grant from the federal Natural 
Resources Conservation Service. During 2021, a portion of the $8.0 million grant was used to award 
$1,860,700 to Mahoosic Trust to purchase a conservatLRQ�HDVHPHQW�ZLWKLQ� WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�ZDWHUVKHG��7KH�
$1,860,700 was included as operating revenue offset by operating expense. The District contributed $503,348 
to the purchase and received a right to enforce the conservation if Mahoosic Trust failed to protect the land. 
The purchase is considered an intangible asset. The contribution was funded by issuing a $500,000 bond and 
grant proceeds.

Operating Revenues ± Operating revenues were up $3.79 million (8.2%). The increase included: the 
watershed grant of $1.86 million and wastewater assessments of $1.48 million (7.5%).

Operating Expense ± Operating Expense increased $2.45 million (5.9%). This number included the 
watershed grant expense of $1.86 million in 2021 and a reduction in pension expense of $1.06 million. Also 
of note were increases of $571k (33.5%) in biosolids disposal, depreciation $581k (5.6%) and employee 
benefits $304k (7.5%).

Net Capital Assets ($323.7 million) had an increase of 4.8% ($14.7 million). More than half of the Utility 
Property additions of $21.2 million were water distribution infrastructure of $13.9 million.  The Allowance 
for Depreciation increased $10.1 million while Construction Work in Progress increased $3.5 million.

The 'LVWULFW¶V�QHZ�$VVHW�0DQDJHPHQW��%LOOLQJ�DQG�&XVWRPHU�,QIRUPDWLRQ�6\VWHP��$%&��ZHQW�OLYH�LQ�4��
2021. 7KH�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQFOXGHG�D�������PLOOLRQ�DGGLWLRQ�WR�FDSLWDO�DVVHWV�
and a reduction of $2.72 million in construction work in progress related to prior year project expenditures.
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7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�ERQGHG�GHEW�of $94.85 million was up $2.83 million as the District issued $11.43 million in 
new debt, retired $8.58 million and had $0.02 million forgiven.  7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�ILQDQFLDO�UDWLRV�UHPDLQ�VWURQJ�
with an overall current ratio of 2.20 and debt coverage ratio of 1.74

COVID-19 Impact on District

The small water rate increase the District typically has each year was delayed until 2022.  In addition, the 
pandemic has shifted water consumption to residential customers, as more people work at home, which has 
generated more revenue.  In 2020 the Maine Public Utilities Commission ordered a suspension of collection 
activities, the resulting rise in past due receivables lead to a bad debt expense of $220k.  Collections resumed 
in 2021 and  bad debt expense was down $170k as past due levels returned to historical norms.   In addition, 
inventory levels rose $312k (19.5%) as supply chain issues drove up commodity prices and the District 
carried higher than normal inventory levels to ensure adequate supplies for ongoing operations.

&RPSDULVRQ� RI� )LQDQFLDO� 6WDWHPHQWV� IRU� &XUUHQW� DQG�
3ULRU�<HDUV�

Statement of Net Position (Condensed)

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Current Assets 42,975,540$     47,680,745$        (4,705,205)$      -9.9%

Net Capital Assets 323,701,256 309,005,225 14,696,031 4.8%

Other Assets 1,505,496 1,542,224 (36,728) -2.4%

Non-Current Assets 325,206,752 310,547,449 14,659,303 4.7%

Total Assets 368,182,292 358,228,194 9,954,098 2.8%

Deferred Outflows 891,025 403,569 487,456 120.8%

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 369,073,317$   358,631,763$     10,441,554$      2.9%

Current Liabilities 19,537,246$     17,985,455$        1,551,791$        8.6%

Long-Term Debt/Payables 85,931,793 83,539,630 2,392,163 2.9%

Other Non-Current Liabilities 7,261,049 7,861,070 (600,021) -7.6%

Non Current Liabilities 93,192,842 91,400,700 1,792,142 2.0%

Total Liabilities 112,730,088 109,386,155 3,343,933 3.1%

Deferred Inflows 4,271,191 4,394,744 (123,553) -2.8%

Net Position

Net Invested in Capital Assets 232,901,919 218,114,336 14,787,583 6.8%

Unrestricted 19,170,119 26,736,528 (7,566,409) -28.3%

Total Net Position 252,072,038 244,850,864 7,221,174 2.9%

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

   and Net Position 369,073,317$   358,631,763$     10,441,554$      2.9%

Note: The 2020 totals have been reclassed to reflect changes made in 2021.
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District Assets

Current Assets

Current Assets decreased $4.7 million (9.9%) in 2021. The Cash/Investment balance decreased $7.8 million 
(18.8%) due dollars spent on capital projects that will be reimbursed by bonds issued in early 2022.  This 
was somewhat offset by a rise in bond Trustee Held funds of $2.4 million.

Net Capital Assets

Net Capital Assets increased $14.7 million (4.8%):

The major additions to Utility Property for 2021 included:

- $13.93 million in water infrastructure (mains, services, hydrants & meters).
- $3.64 million in computer software and equipment mostly related to the Asset Management, Billing 

and Customer Information System (ABC) project.
- $1.98 million in wastewater pump station structures and equipment.
- $1.89 million in wastewater treatment plant structures and equipment.

Construction Work in Progress increased by $3.54 million in 2021. There were large increases for the 
Westbrook Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) aeration ($4.72 million), the East End WWTF 
backup power ($1.41 million) and the Baxter Boulevard Wastewater Pump Station (WWPS) ($0.93 million). 
This was somewhat offset be the completion of work with the ABC Project ($2.72 million) and WWPS work 
in Cape Elizabeth ($1.18 million).

The Allowance for Depreciation grew 4.2% ($10.08 million) in 2021. The change was in line with prior 
years.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements ± Note 3 ± Detailed Notes 
on All Funds ± Capital Assets.

Additions Reductions Net Change

Operating Property 23,056,538$  (1,875,439)$    21,181,099$

Construction Work in Progress 8,704,526 (5,162,801) 3,541,725

Right to use Lease Assets (Net) 53,653 - 53,653

Allowance for Depreciation (11,846,036) 1,765,590 (10,080,446)

19,968,681$  (5,272,650)$    14,696,031$
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Other Assets

7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�2WKHU�$VVHWV��ZKLFK�GHFUHDVHG������������N��LQ�������LQYROYHV�/HDVH�Dnd Notes Receivable.  
This decrease was due to pay downs of receivable balances.  For more detailed information, please refer to 
the Notes to the Financial Statements ± Note 3 ± Detailed Notes on All Funds ± Leases and  Notes Receivable.

Deferred Outflows

Deferred Outflows of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) 
that will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then. The District has Deferred 
Outflows for its pension and for a 2016 bond refunding. 

In the 2021, Deferred Outflows increased $487k (120.8%).   The portion of the Deferred Outflows relating 
to the pension was up $512k (156.3%) primarily due to a rise Outflows related changes in assumptions. The 
portion of the Deferred Outflows related to bond refunding decreased $24.8k due to the annual amortization.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements ± Note 3 ± Detailed Notes 
on All Funds ± Deferred Outflow ± Bond Refunding and Pension Plans.

District Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities increased $1.55 million (8.6%).  Construction Retainage increased $584k (290.3%) as the 
District had several large/multi-year projects ongoing at the end of 2021 including $385k in retainage on 
water main renewal projects as well as $210k for the Westbrook Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility 
aeration project.  In addition, the Current Portion of Long-Term Debt increased 4.9% ($422k) due to the new 
debt issued in 2021 ($11.43 million) exceeding the debt retired ($8.58 million).

Description 2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Accounts Payable & Accrued Payroll 7,783,619$       7,472,758$       310,861$         4.2%

Accrued Interest 422,836 387,899 34,937 9.0%

Customer Deposits 436,374 363,640 72,734 20.0%

Construction Retainage 785,207 201,183 584,024 290.3%

Current Portion - Long-Term Debt 8,999,598 8,577,514 422,084 4.9%

All Other Current Liabilities 1,109,612 982,461 127,151 12.9%

19,537,246$     17,985,455$     1,551,791$      8.6%



8

Long-Term Debt/Bond Rating

In 2021, the District issued bonds directly to the market for the Water. 0RRG\¶V�DVVLJQHG�D�UDWLQJ�RI�$D��
wKLOH�6WDQGDUG�	�3RRU¶V��6	3��UDWHG�WKH�GHEW�$$�

Long-Term Debt/Payables

This category consists of general revenue bonds and notes payable. During 2021, the balance of Long-Term 
Debt/Payables increased 2.9% ($2.39 million) as new issuances exceeded retirements. For more detailed 
information, please refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements ± Note 3 ± Detailed Notes on All Funds ±
Long-Term Debt.

Bonded Debt: Beginning Issued Forgiven Retired Ending

Water 54,931,858$    8,975,000$      (20,000)$     (5,082,403)$        58,804,455$    

Wastewater:

  Cape Elizabeth 2,934,200 1,238,000 - (215,850) 3,956,350

  Cumberland 37,500 - - (6,250) 31,250

  Falmouth 3,846,000 - - (238,000) 3,608,000

  Gorham 2,545,515 53,900 - (303,655) 2,295,760

  Portland 21,468,670 422,000 - (2,160,508) 19,730,162

  Westbrook 5,427,879 116,550 - (468,689) 5,075,740

  Windham 832,842 619,550 - (102,158) 1,350,234

Total Bonded Debt 92,024,464 11,425,000 (20,000) (8,577,513) 94,851,951

(Less: current portion) (8,577,514) (8,999,598)

Non-Current 83,446,950$    85,852,353$    

Notes Payable: Beginning Issued Forgiven Retired Ending

Wastewater:

  Windham 105,920$         (13,240)$             92,680$           

Total Notes Payable 105,920 (13,240) 92,680

(Less: current portion) (13,240) (13,240)

Non-Current 92,680 79,440

Non-Current LT Debt 83,539,630$    85,931,793$    
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Other Non-Current Liabilities

Other Non-Current Liabilities were down $0.60 million (7.6%).  The Net Pension Liability decreased $1.24 
million (36.8%) as the value of the plan assets as a percentage of the liabilities improved from 98% to 99% 
for the Bargaining Unit and from 96% to 101% for the Non-Bargaining Unit.  Somewhat offsetting this was 
the increase in Customer Advances and Other Liabilities due an increase in unamortized bond premiums 
generated by new bond issues ($534k).

Deferred Inflows 

Deferred Inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The portion of the Deferred Inflows  
relating to the pension was down 2.2% with reductions of inflows related to plan experience offsetting inflows 
related to investment earnings. For more detailed information, please refer to the Notes to the Financial 
Statements ± Note 3 ± Detailed Notes on All Funds ± Pension Plans.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses & Changes in Net Position (Condensed)

Note: 2020 presentation changed to reflect groupings in 2021.

Operating Revenue

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Customer Advances & Other Liabilities 4,071,768$  3,524,975$      546,793$        15.5%

Compensated Absences - Non Current 881,234       838,099           43,135            5.1%

Lease Liability - Non-Current 180,886       130,592           50,294            38.5%

Net Pension Liability 2,127,161    3,367,404        (1,240,243)      -36.8%

7,261,049$  7,861,070$      (600,021)$       -7.6%

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Operating Revenue 50,031,055$           46,239,468$         3,791,587$     8.2%

Non-Operating Revenue 642,368 955,330 (312,962) -32.8%

Total Revenues 50,673,423 47,194,798 3,478,625 7.4%

Operating Expense 43,778,873 41,331,292 2,447,581 5.9%

Non-Operating Expense 2,458,009 2,434,899 23,110 0.9%

Total Expenses 46,236,882 43,766,191 2,470,691 5.6%

Change in Net Position before Capital Contribution 4,436,541 3,428,607 1,007,934 29.4%

Capital Contributions 2,784,633 4,201,264 (1,416,631) -33.7%

Change in Net Position 7,221,174 7,629,871 (408,697) -5.4%

Beginning Net Position 244,850,864 237,220,993 7,629,871 3.2%

Ending Net Position 252,072,038$         244,850,864$       7,221,174$     2.9%

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Metered Water Revenue 23,728,260$     23,539,794$     188,466$       0.8%

Wastewater Assessments 21,083,736       19,604,461       1,479,275      7.5%

Public & Private Fire Protection 2,727,737         2,623,588         104,149         4.0%

Watershed Protection Grant 1,860,700         -                    1,860,700      n/a

Other Operating Revenue 630,622            471,625            158,997         33.7%

Total Operating Revenue 50,031,055$     46,239,468$     3,791,587$    8.2%
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Operating Revenue - Continued

Metered Water Revenue ($23.73 million) ± The District's metered customers are billed monthly. The billing 
includes a minimum charge (based on the size of the meter) for the first hundred cubic feet (HCF) of water 
and a charge for each additional HCF of water used. Due to COVID-19, the District postponed the planned 
water rate increase from May 2020 to December 2020.  The December increase was an average increase of 
3.4% with no other change in the year 2021 therefore explaining the 0.8% change in metered revenue.  
Consumption in 2021 was 8.37 million HCF, a decrease of 2.5% from the previous year while interest charges 
and penalties on late payments were 63% higher than 2020 once disconnections were reinstated. 

Wastewater Assessments ($21.08 million) ± These assessments were paid by the local municipalities to the 
District for providing wastewater services, such as interception, collection, treatment, and contracted billing 
and system maintenance services. 7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�RI�7UXVWHHV�VHWV�DVVHVVPHQWV�DQQXDOO\. Assessments 
were increased in six (6) of the seven (7) wastewater funds mostly due to capital projects.

Public and Private Fire Protection ($2.73 million) ± This revenue includes charges to local municipalities for 
water capacity available for public firefighting needs, as well as for private sprinkler systems. 7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�
Board of Trustees sets these rates. A 3.4% rate increase was put in place in December 2020, this was 
primarily the reason for the 4.0% increase in 2021.

Watershed Protection Grant ($1.86 million) ± Fund received for conservation easement purchase via the grant 
from the federal Natural Resources Conservation Service.

Other Operating Revenue ($0.63 million) ± Revenue in this category includes charges to septage haulers for 
dumping at wastewater treatment facilities ($425k), fees in the Water Fund for new customers ($89k) and
activations for customers whose service had been turned off due to delinquent bills ($43k).

Operating Revenue by Fund

For the Water Fund, Operating Revenue primarily consists of metered water consumption and fire protection 
services. Metered Water sales grew $188k (0.8%). Fire Protection revenue was up $104k (4%) and Other 
Revenue was up $1.86 million due to the watershed grant which does not impact the bottom line.

In the Wastewater (WW) Funds, the largest component of Operating Revenue was the wastewater 
assessments. Assessment increases in 2021 were: Cape Elizabeth 7.6%, Cumberland 2.5%, Gorham 2.4%, 
Portland 4.5%, Westbrook 2.9%, and Windham 5.9%. Portland also receives revenue from septage haulers, 
which was up $148k (55%) attributed to a new car-wash customer that has added $151k in 2021

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Water 28,475,693$     26,313,359$     2,162,334$    8.2%

Wastewater:

  Cape Elizabeth 1,835,412 1,705,380 130,032 7.6%

  Cumberland 989,268 965,292 23,976 2.5%

  Falmouth 314,112 314,112 - 0.0%

  Gorham 1,189,593 1,161,654 27,939 2.4%

  Portland 13,860,833 12,637,728 1,223,105 9.7%

  Westbrook 2,955,054 2,752,713 202,341 7.4%

  Windham 411,090 389,230 21,860 5.6%

50,031,055$     46,239,468$     3,791,587$    8.2%
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Non-Operating Revenue

Interest Income decreased $376k (65.6%) in 2021.  The decline in 2021 can be attributed to lower rates of 
return. The principal objective of the District's investment policy is safety while attaining an appropriate rate 
of return.  

Miscellaneous Income includes non-operational items, such as grants and reimbursements for expenses offset 
by the cost to retire capital assets. The increase in 2021 ($62.9k) was mostly due to income from a developer 
received in an exchange easements and other considerations at the India St Wastewater Pump Station. 

Operating Expense

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Interest Income 197,403$           573,255$     (375,852)$    -65.6%

Miscellaneous Income 444,965             382,075       62,890         16.5%

642,368$           955,330$     (312,962)$    -32.8%

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Salaries & Wages 12,368,700$      11,857,086$     511,614$        4.3%

Depreciation 10,886,036 10,304,624 581,412 5.6%

Employee Benefits (Pension) (393,583) 668,466 (1,062,049) -158.9%

Employee Benefits 4,372,834 4,068,521 304,313 7.5%

Contracted Services 4,869,919 4,862,161 7,758 0.2%

Purchased Power 1,978,899 1,859,039 119,860 6.4%

Biosolids Disposal 2,275,184 1,704,001 571,183 33.5%

Materials & Supplies 1,715,342 1,508,430 206,912 13.7%

Chemicals 1,238,597 1,239,730 (1,133) -0.1%

Transportation 1,156,609 988,095 168,514 17.1%

Heat & Fuel Oil 334,938 320,128 14,810 4.6%

Watershed Grant Expense 1,860,700 - 1,860,700 n/a

Other Expense 1,114,698 1,951,011 (836,313) -42.9%

43,778,873$      41,331,292$     2,447,581$     5.9%
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Operating Expense Category Explanations

Salaries/Wages - Salaries and Wages expense increased by $511,614 or 4.3%.  Wages rates were increased 
an average of 3.0%.  Regular hours were down 1.1% from 2020 while overtime and double-time and standby 
hours increased 4.5% in part due to turnover and open positions during 2021. In addition, bonuses paid in 
2021 totaled $131,499.

Depreciation Expense ± This expense went from $10.30 million in 2020 to $10.89 million in 2021, an 
increase of $581,412 or 5.6%. Most of the increase comes from additions to the Water fund, such as new 
and renewed water mains and services.

Employee Benefits (Pension) ± Pension expense is equal to the change in the net pension liability and the 
associated deferred outflows and inflows as calculated by the annual actuary study and the amount of the 
pension contribution.  The change between 2020 and 2021 was a decrease of $1.06 million. 

Employee Benefits - This expense increased $304,313 or 7.5%. Health insurance costs rose $169k and 
FICA taxes were $45k higher.

Contracted Services - This category, which is comprised of services provided to the District by outside 
vendors, has remained relatively flat compared to 2020. Increases in repair and maintenance services of were 
offset by lower expenses for contractor construction and minor paving.

Purchased Power ± Power costs increased $119,860 or 6.4% in 2021. The increase was primarily due to the 
rise in transmission and distribution rates that was impacted by costs from the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC) which manages the national energy grid.

Biosolids Disposal - The District contracts with an outside vendor to remove and dispose of biosolids from 
its wastewater treatment facilities. In total, biosolids expense was higher by $571,183 or 33.5% with the 
majority due to a 25% price increase in the per unit disposal cost driven by regulator and public concerns 
with ploy-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) In addition, the District incurred $51k in surcharges for off hours 
disposal and underweight truck loads from the East End Treatment Facility.

Materials/Supplies - Materials and Supplies have increased by $206,912 or 13.7%. Expenses in this group 
include parts and supplies purchased directly from outside vendors or items drawn out of the District's 
inventory stockroom. This expense is made up of thousands of individual purchases and stock issuances; the 
annual expense varies depending on the volume and types of repairs/maintenance being performed. 

Transportation - Transportation costs, which were up $168,514 or 17.1% are based on vehicle usage and a 
predefined hourly rate for each class of vehicle. The sum of these charges equal the cost of operating the 
vehicle fleet, as well as depreciation. Vehicle maintenance and associated supplies were higher by $43k in 
addition to vehicle depreciation. 

Chemicals - Expenses have remained flat in relation to 2020 by fluctuations in prices by different chemical 
types. Polymer, used in the dewatering process of wastewater, has increased $26k or 8.2% due to higher 
usage and liquid oxygen, used in the drinking water treatment, was down by $27k or 30% due to a lower 
contracted price per unit.

Watershed Grant Expense ± The $1.86 million expense in 2021 was the funding for the purchase of a 
conservation easement by a local environmental non-profit.

Other Expense ± In 2021, this category was down $836,313 or 42.9%.  The 2020 expenditures included a 
$450k write-off for costs associated with the new Asset Management, Billing and Customer Information 
System (ABC) project, higher expenses for bad debt ($170k) related suspension of collections activity and 
$70k for an emergency generator at the East End Wastewater Treatment Facility.
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Operating Expense by Fund

Pension expenses (which are included above) were $1.06 million lower in 2021 than the previous year. The 
Operating Expense by Fund without the pension decrease was:

Water Fund (9.6% or $2.09 million) ± Most of the increase ($1.83 million) was the watershed grant which 
was offset in Other Operating Revenue. All other expenses were up 1.2% ($265k) with higher labor and
benefits expenses being offset by lower bad debt and contacted services expenses.

Cape Elizabeth (2.4% or $44k) ± Depreciation increased $34k in 2021 due to the first year of additions from 
WKH�ZRUN�DW�/LWWOH�-RKQ�DQG�6SXUZLQN�::36¶V�� � ,QFUHDVHV�LQ�ODERU�DQG�EHQHILWV�ZHUH�PRVWO\�RIIVHW�E\�D�
decrease in contracted treatment services due to lower flows at the City of SoXWK�3RUWODQG¶V�Wastewater 
Treatment Facility (WWTF).

Cumberland (7.7% or $82k) ± Contracted services were up $34k due mostly to manhole raising due to local 
paving projects.  In addition, expenses increased for contracted treatment services to the Town of Falmouth 
at their WWTF ($17k) because of higher flows.  Depreciation expense was up $8k due to recent additions.

Falmouth (-1.5% or $2.5k) ± )DOPRXWK¶V�H[SHQVHs in 2021 as the onetime write-off of billing system costs 
from 2020 ($6.5k) did not recur.

Gorham (11.4% or $118k) ± Contracted services were up $56k due mostly to manhole raising due to local 
paving projects.  In addition, Higher labor/benefit, biosolids disposal and maintenance/repair costs at the 
Westbrook Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) increases the costs $27k.

Portland (8.8% or $1.05 million) ± Biosolids costs were up $506k due to an 29.2% increase in per unit 
disposal costs as well as a 6.0% increase in volume disposed.  Also of note were approximately $191k in 
unexpected maintenance issues including the Baxter Boulevard Wastewater Pump Station.

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Water 23,559,034$      22,063,590$      1,495,444$    6.8%

Wastewater:

  Cape Elizabeth 1,893,128 1,910,105 (16,977) -0.9%

  Cumberland 1,146,345 1,070,772 75,573 7.1%

  Falmouth 166,476 168,998 (2,522) -1.5%

  Gorham 1,145,522 1,039,703 105,819 10.2%

  Portland 12,910,659 12,177,254 733,405 6.0%

  Westbrook 2,670,441 2,627,206 43,235 1.6%

  Windham 287,268 273,664 13,604 5.0%

43,778,873$      41,331,292$      2,447,581$    5.9%

9.6%

2.4%

7.7%

11.4%

8.8%

4.2%
5.5%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%
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8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

Operating Expense Change Net of Pension
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Operating Expense by Fund - Continued

Westbrook (4.2% or $109k) ± Expenses were higher at the treatment facility ($170k) due to increases in 
labor/benefit, biosolids disposal and maintenance/repair costs. These costs were offset somewhat as the costs 
associated with the 2020 landslide ($128k) did not recur.

Windham (5.5% or $15k) ± Higher labor/benefit and transportation expenses in 2021 ($8.4k) were offset as 
the onetime write-off of billing system costs from 2020 ($4.8k) did not recur. 

Non-Operating Expense

Interest/Amortization Expense was relatively flat.  The Loss on Sale/Retirement recognizes the retirement of 
long-term assets that had not yet been fully depreciated and 2021 was $225k lower than 2020. Due to rising 
interest rates, the market value of investments held declined resulting in an unrealized loss in 2021.

Contributions

Contributions are non-exchange transactions in which the District takes ownership of fixed assets constructed 
and/or paid for by outside parties. Water contributions for mains, services, meters and hydrants occur as 
developers install water infrastructure each year. The Gorham Wastewater contributions was for sewer 
interceptors and collector. The contribution in Windham Wastewater was related to the Depot Street 
wastewater pump station. The 2020 Other Water Assets contribution represents the principal forgiveness on 
debt issued for the Crooked River conservation right to inforce easement.

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Interest/Amortization Expense 2,167,973$  2,147,227$  20,746$      1.0%

Investments unrealized loss (gain) 214,829 (12,482) 227,311 -1821.1%

Loss on Sale/Retirement 75,207 300,154 (224,947) -74.9%

2,458,009$  2,434,899$  23,110$      0.9%

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Water Distribution Mains 1,891,638$     3,009,540$     (1,117,902)$  -37.1%

Water Services 288,003          207,108          80,895           39.1%

Water Meters 202,552          93,957            108,595         115.6%

Hydrants 107,840          163,159          (55,319)         -33.9%

Other Water Assets 20,000            50,000            (30,000)         n/a

Wastewater - Gorham 11,700            499,500          (487,800)       -97.7%

Wastewater - Windham 262,900          178,000          84,900           n/a

2,784,633$     4,201,264$     (1,416,631)$  -33.7%
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2YHUDOO�)LQDQFLDO�3RVLWLRQ

To determine the change in the District's financial position in the past year, we have focused on two elements: 
Financial Ratios and Revenue Stability.

Financial Ratios

Current Ratio by Fund

7KH�&XUUHQW�5DWLR�PHDVXUHV�DQ�RUJDQL]DWLRQ¶V�DELOLW\�Wo meet short-term obligations.

The Gorham and Windham Wastewater funds had large Construction Work in Progress balances at the end 
of 2021, they which are related to the aeration project at the Westbrook Regional Wastewater Treatment 
Facility.   The bonds to pay for this work will be issued in 2022.   The Falmouth fund is almost entirely made 
up of the Mill Creek pump station and the related debt. 7KH�QH[W� \HDU¶V� ERQG�SULQFLSDO� SD\PHQW� LV� WKH�
majority of the current liability. The Town of Falmouth is legally obligated to fund the payment of the debt 
payments that they do through the next \HDU¶V�DVVHVVPHQW�

Debt Coverage Ratio by Fund

The Debt Coverage Ratio shows an organization¶s ability to meet debt service payments and should generally 
be above 1.0.

2021 2020

Water 2.42 2.44

Wastewater:

Cape Elizabeth 2.22 0.50

Cumberland 3.42 4.62

Falmouth 0.11 0.21

Gorham 0.00 2.99

Portland 2.01 2.91

Westbrook 2.30 7.60

Windham 0.00 1.99

All Funds Combined 2.20 2.65

2021 2020

Water 1.82 1.80

Wastewater:

Cape Elizabeth 1.84 1.33

Cumberland 1.13 1.32

Falmouth 1.04 1.02

Gorham 1.32 1.56

Portland  1.76 1.63

Westbrook 1.56 1.37

Windham 1.62 1.54

All Funds Combined 1.74 1.68
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Revenue Stability

Most of the District's Operating Revenue (95% in 2021), not including the revenue related to the watershed grant, 
came from three sources: Metered Water Revenue, Wastewater Assessments, and Public/Private Fire Protection 
charges.

Metered Water Revenue (47.4%) ± Metered water rates are VHW�E\�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�RI�7UXVWHHV. These rate changes 
allow the District to maintain operations and pay debt service. The District had 54,058 metered customers at the end 
of 2021; the largest ten customers only represented 8.7% of water revenues.

Wastewater Assessments (42.1%) ± These assessments are paid by the local municipalities served by the District and 
are funded by sewer user charges. Legally, the District is obligated to set the assessments at an amount needed to 
operate the wastewater facilities and pay the related debt service.

Public/Private Fire Projection (5.5%) ± Public Fire charges are paid by the eleven municipalities served by the District;
Private Fire has 2,560 customers.
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Significant Changes to Individual Funds

Pension Trust Funds

Statement of Net Position

Statement of Revenues, Expenses & Changes in Net Position

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Bargaining Unit:

Cash and cash equivalents 328,118$         241,436$         86,682$           35.9%

Investments

  Equity Mutual Funds 10,009,150 8,861,038 1,148,112 13.0%

  Common Stock 5,960,993 5,469,357 491,636 9.0%

  Fixed Income Mutual Funds 678,794 703,423 (24,629) -3.5%

16,648,937 15,033,818 1,615,119 10.7%

Interest Receivable -3,160 -760 -2,400 315.8%

Total Assets 16,973,895$ 15,274,494$ 1,699,401$   11.1%

Non-Bargaining Unit:

Cash and cash equivalents 284,114$         213,916$         70,198$           32.8%

Investments

  Equity Mutual Funds 8,565,168 7,635,485 929,683 12.2%

  Common Stock 5,392,762 4,883,552 509,210 10.4%

  Fixed Income Mutual Funds 565,347 585,869 (20,522) -3.5%

14,523,277 13,104,906 1,418,371 10.8%

Interest Receivable -2,974 -387 -2,587 668.5%

Total Assets 14,804,417$ 13,318,435$ 1,485,982$   11.2%

2021 2020 Diff Diff %

Bargaining Unit:

Employer Contributions 816,192$          632,344$          183,848$        29.1%

Net Investment Income 1,791,576 1,844,171 (52,595) -2.9%

Total Additions 2,607,768 2,476,515 131,253 5.3%

Benefit Payments 908,368 818,174 90,194 11.0%

Net Increase in Position 1,699,400 1,658,341 41,059 2.5%

Beginning Year 15,274,495 13,616,154 1,658,341 12.2%

Ending Year 16,973,895$  15,274,495$  1,699,400$   11.1%

Non-Bargaining Unit:

Employer Contributions 608,121$          488,318$          119,803$        24.5%

Net Investment Income 1,563,111 1,624,656 (61,545) -3.8%

Total Additions 2,171,232 2,112,974 58,258 2.8%

Benefit Payments 685,250 685,000 250 0.0%

Net Increase in Position 1,485,982 1,427,974 58,008 4.1%

Beginning Year 13,318,435 11,890,461 1,427,974 12.0%

Ending Year 14,804,417$  13,318,435$  1,485,982$   11.2%
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses & Changes in Net Position -
Continued

The ending balances for the pension funds over the past ten years have been:

The defined benefit plan was closed to new bargaining unit employees hired after December 31, 2010 and 
new non-bargaining unit employees hired after December 31, 2011.

Request for Information

7KLV� ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUW� LV� GHVLJQHG� WR� SURYLGH� D� JHQHUDO� RYHUYLHZ� RI� 3RUWODQG� :DWHU� 'LVWULFW¶V� ILQDQFHV�
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information 
should be addressed to Thomas Quirk, Director of Financial Services, Portland Water District, 225 Douglass 
Street, PO Box 3553, Portland, ME 04104-3553.

Bargaining Diff Diff % Non-Bargaining Diff Diff %

2012 7,214,219$     941,631$          15.0% 7,554,655$           663,898$        9.6%

2013 8,645,546 1,431,327 19.8% 8,611,262 1,056,607 14.0%

2014 9,017,043 371,497 4.3% 8,823,096 211,834 2.5%

2015 8,988,517 (28,526) -0.3% 8,514,202 (308,894) -3.5%

2016 9,869,559 881,042 9.8% 9,096,188 581,986 6.8%

2017 12,176,397 2,306,838 23.4% 11,018,376 1,922,188 21.1%

2018 11,404,562 (771,835) -6.3% 10,099,126 (919,250) -8.3%

2019 13,616,153 1,439,756 11.8% 11,890,461 872,085 7.9%

2020 15,274,494 1,658,341 12.2% 13,318,435 1,427,974 12.0%

2021 16,973,895 1,699,401 11.1% 14,804,417 1,485,982 11.2%



Portland Water District

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2021

ASSETS

Water Cape
Systems Elizabeth Cumberland Falmouth

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6,677,377$       414,678$       221,900$        8,561$         

Investments 15,802,276 981,541 525,240 20,263

Accounts receivable, net allowance for
doubtful accounts of $334,081 for water systems 3,464,100 - - -

Notes receivable, current - - - -

Interfund receivable 151,150 - - -

Lease receivable, current 44,882 - - -

Inventories 1,909,323 - - -

Prepaid expenses 657,155 55,377 - -

Trustee held funds 2,600,000 7,871 - -

Total Current Assets 31,306,263 1,459,467 747,140 28,824

Non-Current Assets
Capital Assets:

Operating property 369,856,357 18,592,545 9,406,758 5,743,834

Accumulated depreciation (134,941,106) (12,856,326) (5,799,381) (682,747)

Net operating property 234,915,251 5,736,219 3,607,377 5,061,087

Right to use lease asset 82,164 126,123 - -

Accumulated amortization - lease assets (13,071) (7,007) - -

Net lease assets 69,093 119,116 - -

Construction in progress 533,731 70,685 1,520 -

Net Capital Assets 235,518,075 5,926,020 3,608,897 5,061,087

Charges and Other Assets:
Notes receivable - - - -

Lease receivable 1,426,056 - - -

Total Charges and Other Assets 1,426,056 - - -

Total Non-Current Assets 236,944,131 5,926,020 3,608,897 5,061,087

Total Assets 268,250,394 7,385,487 4,356,037 5,089,911

Deferred Outflows:
Deferred outflows of pension resources 535,787 31,581 11,423 -

Deferred outflows on bond refunding 51,100 - - -

Total Deferred Outflows 586,887 31,581 11,423 -

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 268,837,281$   7,417,068$    4,367,460$     5,089,911$  

See independent auditor's report.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Gorham Portland Westbrook Windham TOTAL

-$               2,123,515$    648,190$       -$             10,094,221$     
- 5,026,365 1,334,469 - 23,690,154

- 159,266 3,055 - 3,626,421
- - 13,240 - 13,240

- - - - 151,150
- - - - 44,882

- - - - 1,909,323
- 90,923 26,699 - 830,154

- 8,124 - - 2,615,995

- 7,408,193 2,025,653 - 42,975,540

18,403,529 116,530,581 22,988,989 3,860,356 565,382,949

(10,019,455) (72,583,517) (14,400,958) (1,342,951) (252,626,441)

8,384,074 43,947,064 8,588,031 2,517,405 312,756,508

- - - - 208,287

- - - - (20,078)

- - - - 188,209

1,698,869 4,011,261 3,677,173 763,300 10,756,539

10,082,943 47,958,325 12,265,204 3,280,705 323,701,256

- - 79,440 - 79,440
- - - - 1,426,056

- - 79,440 - 1,505,496

10,082,943 47,958,325 12,344,644 3,280,705 325,206,752

10,082,943 55,366,518 14,370,297 3,280,705 368,182,292

16,715 196,962 41,241 6,216 839,925

- - - - 51,100
16,715 196,962 41,241 6,216 891,025

10,099,658$  55,563,480$  14,411,538$  3,286,921$  369,073,317$   

Wastewater Funds
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Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds - Continued

December 31, 2021

LIABIILITIES AND NET POSITION

Water Cape
Systems Elizabeth Cumberland Falmouth

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued payroll 5,284,287$       358,700$     212,290$        19,843$       

Accrued interest 320,694 12,643 37 6,013

Customer deposits 436,374 - - -

Construction retainage 384,577 6,586 - -

Interfund Payable - - - -

Current portion - lease liability 9,283 1,308 - -

Current portion - compensated absences 934,631 - - -

Current portion - notes payable - - - -

Current portion - bonds 5,587,257 277,750 6,250 238,000

Total Current Liabilities 12,957,103 656,987 218,577 263,856

Non-Current Liabilities
Customer advances and other liabilities 3,884,506 - - -

Compensated absences - non-current 881,234 - - -

Lease liability - non-current 60,431 120,455 - -

Net pension liability 1,356,917 79,981 28,929 -

Total other non-current liabilities 6,183,088 200,436 28,929 -

Long-term debt - notes payable - - - -

Long-term debt - bonds 53,217,198 3,678,600 25,000 3,370,000

Total long-term debt - notes payable and bonds 53,217,198 3,678,600 25,000 3,370,000

Total Non-Current Liabilities 59,400,286 3,879,036 53,929 3,370,000

Total Liabilities 72,357,389 4,536,023 272,506 3,633,856

Deferred Inflows
Deferred Inflows - leases 1,403,077 - - -

Deferred inflows of pension resources 1,829,569 107,841 39,007 -

Total Deferred Inflows 3,232,646 107,841 39,007 -

Net Position
Invested in capital assets 180,567,889 1,977,541 3,577,647 1,453,087

Unrestricted 12,679,357 795,663 478,300 2,968

Total Net Position 193,247,246 2,773,204 4,055,947 1,456,055

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows & Net Position 268,837,281$   7,417,068$  4,367,460$     5,089,911$  

Portland Water District

See independent auditor's report.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Gorham Portland Westbrook Windham TOTAL

163,500$       1,478,926$    177,922$       88,151$       7,783,619$       
8,827 49,746 17,069 7,807 422,836

- - - - 436,374
- 173,256 209,889 10,899 785,207

106,059 - - 45,091 151,150

- - - - 10,591
- - - - 934,631

- - - 13,240 13,240
306,284 1,976,650 474,279 133,128 8,999,598

584,670 3,678,578 879,159 298,316 19,537,246

- 94,117 93,145 - 4,071,768
- - - - 881,234

- - - - 180,886

42,330 498,819 104,444 15,741 2,127,161
42,330 592,936 197,589 15,741 7,261,049

- - - 79,440 79,440

1,989,476 17,753,512 4,601,461 1,217,106 85,852,353

1,989,476 17,753,512 4,601,461 1,296,546 85,931,793

2,031,806 18,346,448 4,799,050 1,312,287 93,192,842

2,616,476 22,025,026 5,678,209 1,610,603 112,730,088

- - - - 1,403,077

57,076 672,572 140,825 21,224 2,868,114

57,076 672,572 140,825 21,224 4,271,191

7,805,492 28,253,227 7,229,055 2,037,981 232,901,919

(379,386) 4,612,655 1,363,449 (382,887) 19,170,119

7,426,106 32,865,882 8,592,504 1,655,094 252,072,038

10,099,658$  55,563,480$  14,411,538$  3,286,921$  369,073,317$   

Wastewater Funds

20



Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - 

Proprietary Funds

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Water Cape
Systems Elizabeth Cumberland Falmouth

Operating Revenues
Water revenues 26,455,997$     -$              -$                 -$              
Wastewater assessments - 1,835,412 989,268 314,112
Other operating revenues 2,019,696 - - -

Total Operating Revenues 28,475,693 1,835,412 989,268 314,112

Operating Expenses
Operations 5,922,699 780,373 581,537 -
Maintenance 5,981,970 116,639 201,792 -
Customer accounting and collections 1,064,491 28,884 15,110 8,998
Administrative and general 4,650,681 418,568 168,353 3,839
Taxes on operating property 60,425 - - -
Depreciation not allocated elsewhere 5,878,768 548,664 179,553 153,639

Total Operating Expenses 23,559,034 1,893,128 1,146,345 166,476

Operating Income (Loss) 4,916,659 (57,716) (157,077) 147,636

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest income 106,977 5,085 4,340 598
Investments unrealized loss (120,388) (6,606) (4,930) (736)
Miscellaneous 231,924 1,554 441 -
Loss on sale/disposal of operating property (40,437) - - -
Interest and amortization expense (1,454,083) (74,150) (864) (51,687)

Net Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (1,276,007) (74,117) (1,013) (51,825)

Change in Net Position Before Contributions 3,640,652 (131,833) (158,090) 95,811

Capital Contributions 2,510,033 - - -

Change in Net Position 6,150,685 (131,833) (158,090) 95,811

Net Position, Beginning of Year 187,096,561 2,905,037 4,214,037 1,360,244

Net Position, End of Year 193,247,246$   2,773,204$    4,055,947$      1,456,055$   

Portland Water District

See independent auditor's report.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Gorham Portland Westbrook Windham TOTAL

-$              -$                 -$              -$              26,455,997$     
1,188,840 13,441,944 2,903,244 410,916 21,083,736

753 418,889 51,810 174 2,491,322
1,189,593 13,860,833 2,955,054 411,090 50,031,055

393,134 6,395,123 1,278,595 116,239 15,467,700
82,396 361,472 92,302 22,829 6,859,400
23,407 208,827 57,526 658 1,407,901

247,598 2,860,959 673,722 73,691 9,097,411
- - - - 60,425

398,987 3,084,278 568,296 73,851 10,886,036
1,145,522 12,910,659 2,670,441 287,268 43,778,873

44,071 950,174 284,613 123,822 6,252,182

6,103 46,346 26,178 1,776 197,403
(5,825) (51,395) (23,008) (1,941) (214,829)

825 206,068 3,879 274 444,965
(691) (31,480) (2,513) (86) (75,207)

(56,225) (385,946) (119,694) (25,324) (2,167,973)
(55,813) (216,407) (115,158) (25,301) (1,815,641)

(11,742) 733,767 169,455 98,521 4,436,541

11,700 - - 262,900 2,784,633

(42) 733,767 169,455 361,421 7,221,174

7,426,148 32,132,115 8,423,049 1,293,673 244,850,864

7,426,106$    32,865,882$    8,592,504$    1,655,094$   252,072,038$   

Wastewater Funds

21



Portland Water District

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Water

Systems Cape Elizabeth Cumberland Falmouth

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from customers 28,791,939$   1,835,412$       989,268$        314,113$  

Payments to suppliers (10,221,633) (971,022) (767,775) (5,482)

Payments to employees (7,617,979) (487,935) (184,326) (3,132)

Net cash flows from operating activities 10,952,327 376,455 37,167 305,499

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Proceeds from bonds 8,975,000 1,238,000 - -

Bond principal forgiven (20,000) - - -

Principal payments bonds (5,082,403) (215,850) (6,250) (238,000)

Notes payable payments - - - -

Transfer from trustee funds 2,777 1,238,311 - -

New trustee funds (2,600,000) (1,238,000) - -

Interest paid (1,417,675) (68,816) (871) (52,085)

Acquisitions and construction of operating property (12,360,597) (234,888) (114,706) (39,871)

Amortization of leased assets 3,784 3,504

Proceeds from sale of operating property 17,240 - - -

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities (12,481,874) 722,261 (121,827) (329,956)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investments - transfer to water (13,562,261) 231,829 645,341 41,415

Investments - purchases (15,835,317) - - -

Investments - sales 24,116,005 - - -

Investments - market value change 214,829 - - -

Investments - transfer from water 7,887,878 (981,541) (525,240) (20,263)

Interest income received 106,977 5,085 4,340 598

Investments unrealized loss (120,388) (6,606) (4,930) (736)

Payments on notes receivable - - - -

Net cash flows from investing activities 2,807,723 (751,233) 119,511 21,014

Net change in cash 1,278,176 347,483 34,851 (3,443)

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 5,399,201 67,195 187,049 12,004

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 6,677,377$     414,678$          221,900$        8,561$      

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash flows from

operating activities:

Operating income (loss) 4,916,659$     (57,716)$          (157,077)$       147,636$  

Depreciation 5,878,768 548,664 179,553 153,639

Depreciation allocated 960,000 - - -

Amortization 17,000 - - -

Miscellaneous income 231,924 1,554 441 -

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 316,246 - - -

Interfund receivable (151,150) - - -

Inventories (311,829) - - -

Prepaids (343,798) (50,984) - -

Lease receivable 24,288 - - -

Accounts payable and accrued payroll (136,649) 5,764 48,376 4,223

Interfund payable - - - -

Compensated absences 12,966 - - -

Customer deposits 82,734 - (10,000) -

Net pension liability and deferred inflows (outflows) (1,120,811) (69,548) (24,126) -

Bond refunding deferred outflow 24,800 - - -

Lease liability 57,743 (1,279) - -

Lease deferred inflows (58,151) - - -

Customer advances and other liabilities 551,588 - - -

Net cash flows from operating activities 10,952,328$   376,455$          37,167$          305,498$  

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities

Capital contributions 2,510,033$     -$                 -$                -$         

See independent auditor's report.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Wastewater Funds

Gorham Portland Westbrook Windham TOTAL

1,189,593$         13,769,767$   2,955,489$  411,088$     50,256,669$   

(418,225) (6,812,963) (1,513,295) (65,862) (20,776,257)

(256,150) (2,931,694) (681,466) (92,779) (12,255,461)

515,218 4,025,110 760,728 252,447 17,224,951

53,900 422,000 116,550 619,550 11,425,000

- - - - (20,000)

(303,655) (2,160,508) (468,689) (102,158) (8,577,513)

- - - (13,240) (13,240)

- 574,173 - - 1,815,261

- (422,000) - - (4,260,000)

(56,618) (392,068) (121,182) (23,724) (2,133,039)

(1,623,201) (4,519,107) (3,289,217) (1,108,935) (23,290,522)

7,288

- 383 - - 17,623

(1,929,574) (6,497,127) (3,762,538) (628,507) (25,029,142)

1,096,317 7,463,647 3,792,030 291,682 -

- - - - (15,835,317)

- - - - 24,116,005

- - - - 214,829

- (5,026,365) (1,334,469) - -

6,103 46,346 26,178 1,776 197,403

(5,825) (51,395) (23,008) (1,941) (214,829)

- - 13,240 - 13,240

1,096,595 2,432,233 2,473,971 291,517 8,491,331

(317,761) (39,784) (527,839) (84,543) 687,140

317,761 2,163,299 1,176,029 84,543 9,407,081

-$                   2,123,515$     648,190$     -$            10,094,221$   

44,071$             950,174$        284,613$     123,822$     6,252,182$     

398,987 3,084,278 568,296 73,851 10,886,036

- - - - 960,000

- - - - 17,000

825 206,068 3,879 274 444,965

- (91,065) 437 - 225,618

- - - - (151,150)

- - - - (311,829)

- (18,842) (8,249) - (421,873)

- - - - 24,288

3,840 358,227 6,605 20,475 310,861

106,059 - - 45,091 151,150

- - - - 12,966

- - - - 72,734

(38,565) (450,191) (103,596) (11,064) (1,817,901)

- - - - 24,800

- - - - 56,464

- - - - (58,151)

- (13,538) 8,744 - 546,794

515,217$           4,025,111$     760,729$     252,449$     17,224,954$   

11,700$             -$               -$             262,900$     2,784,633$     

 22



Portland Water District

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Pension Trust Funds

December 31, 2021

Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 612,232$            

Investments

  Equity mutual funds 18,574,318

  Common stock 11,353,755

  Fixed income - mutual funds 1,244,141

31,172,214

Interest receivable (6,134)

Total Assets 31,778,312$       

Restricted for pension benefits 31,778,312$       

Total Net Position 31,778,312$       

 23
See independent auditor's report.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Portland Water District

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Pension Trust Funds

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Total

Additions:

Employer Contributions 1,424,313$         

Investment Income

Interest and dividends 684,170

Net gain on sale of assets 2,030,296

Net appreciation of investments 816,698

Net Investment Income 3,531,164

Total Additions 4,955,477

Deductions:

Benefits (1,593,618)

Fees/Other Expenses (176,477)

Total Deductions (1,770,095)

Change in Position 3,185,382

Net Position - Beginning of Year 28,592,930

Net Position - End of Year 31,778,312$       

See independent auditor's report.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  24
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity

Portland Water District (the District) was incorporated in 1908 under the laws of the State of Maine. The territories and 
people of the Cities of Portland, South Portland and Westbrook and the Towns of Cape Elizabeth, Cumberland, Falmouth, 
Gorham, Raymond, Scarborough and Windham constitute the public municipal. The District provides water and wastewater
services, including billing services to Greater Portland municipalities. Water services are provided to the Cities of Portland, 
South Portland and Westbrook and the Towns of Cape Elizabeth, Cumberland, Falmouth, Gorham, Raymond, Scarborough, 
Standish, Yarmouth and Windham. Wastewater services are provided to the Cities of Portland and Westbrook and the Towns 
of Cape Elizabeth, Cumberland, Falmouth, Gorham and Windham. An 11-member publicly elected Board of Trustees 
RYHUVHHV� DQG� GLUHFWV� WKH� 'LVWULFW¶V� RSeration. The water service is partially regulated by the Maine Public Utilities 
Commission (PUC).

In evaluating how to define the reporting entity, for financial reporting purposes, management has considered all potential 
component units. Management applied criteria as set forth in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAP) to determine if other component units should be included in defining the reporting entity. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for governmental accounting and 
financial reporting. The basic ± but not the only ± criterion for including a potential component unit within the reporting 
HQWLW\�LV�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�DELOLW\�WR�H[HUFLVH�ILQDQFLDO�DFFRXQWDELlity. Application of this criterion and determination of the type 
of presentation involves considering whether the activity benefits the District and is generally available to its customers. It 
LV� WKH�'LVWULFW¶V� MXGJPHQW�� EDVHG�RQ�DOO�SHUWLQHQW� IDFWV�GHUived from the analysis of this criterion, that there are no other 
component units that should be included as part of the reporting entity.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation

The District uses funds to report on its financial position and the results of its operations. Fund accounting is designed to 
demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related to certain functions and 
activities. A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. The District has the following fund 
types:

Proprietary funds are accounted for on the flow of economic resources measurement focus, using the accrual basis of 
accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are 
incurred. The District complies with GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance 
Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 Financial Accounting Standards Board and American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants Pronouncements. Proprietary funds used by the District include enterprise funds as described below.

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business. 
The District maintains eight enterprise funds ± Wastewater Funds for Cape Elizabeth, Cumberland, Falmouth, Gorham, 
Portland, Westbrook and Windham and a Water Fund.

Fiduciary funds account for assets held by the District in a trustee capacity. Trust funds account for the assets held by the 
District under terms of a formal trust agreement. The District maintains two pension fiduciary funds. 7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�QRQ-
EDUJDLQLQJ�XQLW�HPSOR\HHV¶�SHQVLRQ�WUXVW�DQG�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�EDUJDLQLQJ�XQLW�HPSOR\HHV¶�SHQVLRQ�WUXVW�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DUH
prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Employer costs are equal to the change in the net pension liability and are 
recognized in accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation - Continued

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating activity. Operating revenues arise from 
providing goods or services to outside parties for a fee. The intent of the governing body is that the operating costs, including 
administration and depreciation, of providing goods and services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges. Revenues and expenses that are not derived directly from operations are reported 
as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Cash & Cash Equivalents (Deposits and Investments) - Proprietary Funds

The District considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an initial maturity of two years or less to be cash and 
cash equivalents. In addition, money market mutual funds held in an overnight cash sweep arrangement are considered to be 
cash and cash equivalents.

State statutes authorize the District to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies and instrumentalities, other states 
and Canada, provided such securities are rated within the three highest grades by an approved rating service of the State of 
Maine, corporate stocks and bonds within statutory limits, obligations of financial institutions, mutual funds and repurchase
agreements.

Investments are reported at fair value, except that investments with a remaining maturity at time of purchase of one year or 
less are reported at amortized cost. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported 
sales price at the current exchange rates.

Credit Risk:

Credit risk is the risk that the entity in which the fund has invested may be unable to redeem investments when they mature. 
The District's proprietary fund investment policy limits investments to:

- U.S. government obligations and U.S. government agency obligations which have a liquid market with a readily 
determinable market value.

- Certificates of deposit and other deposits at financial institutions, that are fully insured or collateralized.
- Commercial paper rated the highest tier.
- Repurchase agreements and money market mutual funds whose underlying securities consist of the items 

above.
- Local government investment cooperatives made up of government securities or broadly diversified money

market investments.

Concentration Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk caused by the lack of diversification in the portfolio. 7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�LQYHVWPHQW�SROLF\�
strives to avoid over concentration from a specific issuer or business section. The exception to this guideline is investments 
involving U.S. Treasury securities.

Custodial Credit Risk:

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of failure by the counter party, the District will not be able to recover the 
value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of the outside party.

The District's investment policy does not address custodial credit risk. Overnight sweep funds are invested in a money market 
mutual fund which is made up of U.S. government and agency instruments��KHOG�E\�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�%DQN�LQ�WKH�%DQN¶V�QDPH. 
Overnight repurchase agreement funds are invested in U.S. government backed obligations of U.S. government agencies and 
corporations, held E\�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�BDQN�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�QDPH.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

Cash & Cash Equivalents (Deposits and Investments) - Proprietary Funds - Continued

Interest Rate Risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair market value on an investment.

The investment policy calls for investment in securities with varying maturities and investing a portion of the portfolio in 
money market funds or other overnight investments to ensure appropriate liquidity. The maturity of investments is limited 
to two years or less. Reserve funds may be invested in assets with maturities of over two years; however, no single investment 
can exceed three years and the weighted average maturity of the entire reserve fund should not exceed two and one-half years.
,QIRUPDWLRQ�DERXW� WKH�H[SRVXUH�RI� WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�GHEW� W\SH�LQYHVWPHQWV�WR� WKLV� ULVN� using the segmented time distribution 
model is as follows: U.S. Agency and Treasury Securities fair value with maturities less than one year are $2,079,426 and 
maturities of 1-5 years are $7,435,166.

Investments ± Pension Trust Funds 

Method used to Value Investments:

Investments are reported at fair value, except that investments with a remaining maturity at time of purchase of one year or 
less are reported at amortized cost. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported 
sales price at the current exchange rate.

Credit Risk/Concentration Credit Risk:

7KH�SHQVLRQ�SODQV¶�SROLF\�LQ�UHJDUG�WR�WKH�DOORFDWLRQ�RI�LQYHVWHG�DVVHWV�LV�HVWDEOLVKHG�DQG�PD\�EH�DPHQGHG�E\�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�
Board of Trustees. ,W� LV� WKH�SROLF\�RI� WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG� WR�SXUVXH�DQ� LQYHVWPHQW�VWUDWHJ\� WKDW�UHGXFHV�ULVN� WKURXJK� WKH�
prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset classes. 7KH�SHQVLRQ�SODQV¶�LQYHVWPHQW�SROLF\�
discourages the use of cash equivalents, except for liquidity purposes, and aims to refrain from dramatically shifting asset 
class allocations over short time spans. 7KH�IROORZLQJ�ZDV�WKH�%RDUG¶V�DGRSWHG�DVVHW�DOORFDWLRn policy as of December 31, 
2021:

Asset Class Minimum Target Maximum

U.S. Equities 30% 40% 50%                                                                   
International Equities 10% 25% 30%                                                                   
Bonds 20% 25% 40%                                                                 
Alternatives 0% 10% 15%                                                                       
Cash and Equivalents 0% 0% 30%

There were no changes to the allocation policy during 2021. As of December 31, 2021, the investment portfolio does not 
KROG�DQ\�LQYHVWPHQW�LQ�DQ\�RQH�RUJDQL]DWLRQ�JUHDWHU�WKDQ����RI�HLWKHU�RI�WKH�SODQ¶V�ILGXFLDU\�QHW�SRVLWLRQs.

Rate of Return:

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, net of pension 
expense, was 12.42% and 12.43% for the Bargaining and Non-Bargaining Units Plan, respectively. The money-weighted 
rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually 
invested.

Custodial Credit Risk:

The District's Pension Fund investment policy does not address custodial credit risk. The District's pension investments are 
held by a trust company in the District's name. The trust company acts as the District's custodian.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

Investments - Pension Trust Funds - Continued

Interest Rate Risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair market value on an investment. The 
investment policy for the pension fund does not directly address interest rate risk.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the District uses various methods, including market, 
income and cost approaches. Based on these approaches, the District often utilizes certain assumptions that market participants 
would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and/or the risks inherent in the inputs to the 
valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs. The 
District utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
Based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques, the District is required to provide the following 
information according to the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information 
used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the 
following three categories:

x Level 1 ± Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the New York 
Stock Exchange.

x Level 2 ± Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices 
in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by observable market data.

x Level 3 ± Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose value is
determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments 
for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

In determining the appropriate levels, the District performs a detailed analysis of the assets and liabilities. At each reporting 
period, all assets and liabilities for which the fair value measurement is based on significant unobservable inputs are classified 
as Level 3.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the application of valuation techniques applied to similar assets and liabilities has 
been consistent. The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value:

Certificates of Deposit: The fair value of marketable securities is the market value based on quoted market prices, when 
available, or market prices provided by recognized broker dealers.

U.S. Agency and Treasury Securities: In general, U.S. agency and treasury securities are valued based on yields currently 
available on comparable securities of issuers with similar credit ratings.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. Management 
provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to earnings and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its 
assessment of the current status of individual accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after management has used 
reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and credit to trade accounts 
receivable. Allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2021 was $334,081. The District has the ability to place a 
lien on property with past due balances.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

Inventories

7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�LQYHQWRULHV�DUH�FRPSULVHG�RI�IXHO��PDWHULDOV�DQG�VXSSOLHV�XVHG�LQ�WKH�GDLO\�RSHUDWLRQV�RI�WKH�'LVWULFW��
,QYHQWRU\�XVHG�LQ�YDULRXV�SURMHFWV�WKDW�LQFUHDVH�WKH�ZDWHU�RU�ZDVWHZDWHU�V\VWHP¶V�OLIH�LV�FDSLWDOL]HG�DQG�GHSUHFLDWHG�
in capital assets over the appropriate useful life. Inventory used in system repairs is expensed in the period in which 
the repair occurs. Inventory is stated at weighted average cost.

Capital Assets

Donated operating and non-operating property, recorded as capital assets, are recorded at their acquisition value at 
the date of donation. Capitalized operating and non-operating property are recorded at cost, including direct and a 
portion of indirect overhead. 7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�SROLF\�KDV�EHHQ�WR�VHW�WKH�FDSLWDOL]DWLRQ�WKUHVKROG�IRU�UHSRUWLQJ�FDSLWDO�
assets at $10,000 and a life exceeding one year.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method at rates intended to amortize, over the useful life of the 
underlying property, the original cost. Useful lives of the assets range from 5 to 77 years:

Water Capital Assets:

5 to 10 years - Vehicles 
8 to 20 years - Pumping and General Equipment              
25 years - Meters                                                                                                        
33 years - Treatment Equipment, Distribution Mains (less than six inches) and Services
50 years - Wells and Hydrants
59 years - Reservoirs, Tanks and Standpipes
67 years - Intakes
77 years - Transmission Mains and Distribution Mains (six inches and larger)

Wastewater Capital Assets:

8 to 10 years - General Equipment
20 years - Treatment Equipment
33 years - Structural Appurtenances
50 years - Structures, Force Mains and Interceptors

Depreciation on the water and individual wastewater system assets, built with aggregate contributions in aid of 
construction, is included in operating expenses. Contributions in aid of construction are recognized as revenue in 
the year contributed. Interest costs incurred during construction of major projects are capitalized and amortized over 
the life of the related asset.

Leases

The District complies with the requirements of GASB Statement 87 ± Leases. The threshold for inclusion were 
leases where the present value of the payments at the beginning of the lease term were over $10,000.   The Discount 
UDWHV�XVHG�ZHUH�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�DYHUDJH�ERUURZLQJ�FRVWV�DW�WKH�GDWH�RI�H[HFXWLRQ���
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

Preliminary Surveys for Plant Expansion or Modification

Expenses incurred for preliminary surveys for plant expansion or modification are capitalized and charged to the 
capital asset when the project is completed or to expense if the project is abandoned.

Maintenance and Other Costs

Certain maintenance and other costs are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over periods as approved 
by the Maine PUC which approximate methods and periods under GAAP.  There were no amortization costs in 2021.

Compensated Absences

7KH�'LVWULFW¶V� SROLF\� LV� WR� DFFUXH� IRU� HPSOR\HH� YDFDWLRQ�ZKHQ� WKH� HPSOR\HH�YHVWV� LQ� VXFK� EHQHILWV� It is the 
'LVWULFW¶V� SROLF\� WR� SHUPLW� HPSOR\HHV� WR� DFFXPXODWH� HDUQHG� EXW� XQXVHG� VLFN� SD\� EHQHILWV�� Upon retirement,
employees can be paid up to a maximum of 400 hours of unused sick pay. The estimated sick leave balance due 
to employees upon retirement is calculated and accrued in accordance with the vesting method of GASB Statement 
No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences.

Deferred Outflows & Inflows

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section of deferred outflows of 
resources. Deferred outflows of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) 
that will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. In addition to liabilities, the 
statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section of deferred inflows of resources. Deferred inflows 
of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.

These deferred outflows and inflows are related to the recognition of the net pension liability, lease transactions and 
a 2016 bond refunding. In the case of the pension, these items can include differences between expected and actual 
expense, change in assumptions, the net difference between projected and actual returns on pension plan investments
and also District pension contributions made prior to the measurement date. For leases the initial value of the deferred 
inflow is the present value of the lease payments the District expects to receive and is amortized over the life of the 
lease on a straight-line basis.  For the bond refunding, the deferred outflow is utilized to amortize the loss on the 
refund over the remaining life of the original bond.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

Budgets

An annual budget is prepared by management and approved by the elected Board of Trustees for each of the proprietary 
funds. The budget is prepared on a departmental basis. The budget is prepared according to GAAP, except that:

- The funding for capital acquisitions and debt principal payments are considered expenses in all funds.
- Depreciation is not considered an expense.

- Contributions are not considered revenue.
- The funding of the pension is considered an expense. 
- Gain/loss on disposal of capital assets are not recognized.

NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

Cash & Investments

The carrying amount of the District's deposits with financial institutions was -$1,045,400 at December 31, 2021 and the 

bank balance was $328,376. The District held certificates of deposit carried at $14,175,562. Total deposits were 
categorized, as follows:  

Bank Certificates Total

Balances of Deposit Deposits

Amount Insured $ 328,376 $  14,157,468 $  14,485,844

Amount Uninsured - 18,094 18,094

$     328,376 $  14,175,562 $  14,503,938

A reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and investments as shown on the Statement of Net Position is, as follows:
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Cash & Investments - Continued

Shares in the overnight money market mutual funds sweep arrangement are held LQ�WKH�%DQN¶V�QDPH�DQG�not in the 
name of the District. These funds are secured by the underlying securities of the mutual funds. Fair value of assets 
measured on a recurring basis at December 31, 2021 are, as follows:

Investment Ratings

U.S. Agency and Treasury Securities are implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government.

Investment Ratings - Pension Trust Funds

Holdings in the fixed income mutual funds were rated by Standard & 3RRU¶V as having ratings of AAA to A. Ratings were 
not available for the equity mutual funds. U.S. Agency Securities are implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government.

Notes Receivable

During the year, the District had one note receivable in Westbrook Wastewater Fund.

The note receivable to the Westbrook Wastewater Fund is related to the purchase of assets by the Windham Wastewater 
Fund. The note originated in 2008 and has an average annual interest rate of 4.395% with a 20-year term starting in 2008.

Proprietary Funds

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Money Market Mutual Funds 11,138,321$      11,138,321$      -$                 -$     

Certificates of Deposit 14,175,562 13,417,268 758,294 -

U.S. Treasury Securities 732,689 - 732,689 -

U.S. Agency Securities 8,781,903 - 8,781,903 -

34,828,475$      24,555,589$      10,272,886$   -$     

Pension Trust Funds

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

  Equity Mutual Funds 18,574,318$      18,574,318$      -$                 -$     

  Common Stock 11,353,755 11,353,755 - -

  Fixed Income - Mutual Funds 1,244,141 1,244,141 - -

31,172,214$      31,172,214$      -$                 -$     
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets

Dec 31, 2020 Increases Decreases Dec 31, 2021

Water Fund:

Operating Property, not being depreciated

Land 4,539,448$       15,400$          -$               4,554,848$     

Land Rights 1,973,782 503,348 - 2,477,130

Plant Acquisition Adjustment 87,189 - (17,000) 70,189

Organization 173,472 - - 173,472

Non-Utility Property 103,935 - - 103,935

Franchises 26,161 - - 26,161

Forestation of Land - - - -

Property Held for Future Use 7,425 - - 7,425

6,911,412 518,748 (17,000) 7,413,160

Operating Property, being depreciated

Distribution Mains 196,582,954 11,390,110 (72,473) 207,900,591

Services 38,974,017 1,569,905 - 40,543,922

Structures & Improvements 30,674,337 76,602 - 30,750,939

Water Treatment Equipment 14,424,461 - - 14,424,461

Transmission Mains 13,430,883 - - 13,430,883

Meters & Meter Installations 12,948,958 396,889 (46,608) 13,299,239

Reservoirs & Standpipes 11,090,541 96,000 - 11,186,541

Hydrants 12,302,245 569,372 (49,166) 12,822,451

Vehicles 3,397,407 389,738 (294,106) 3,493,039

Lake, River & Other Intakes 2,363,460 - - 2,363,460

Communication Equipment 1,485,020 - - 1,485,020

Pumping Equipment 2,820,230 111,050 - 2,931,280

Wells & Springs 989,248 - - 989,248

Computer Equipment 1,573,084 2,768,144 - 4,341,228

Power Equipment 706,964 - - 706,964

Office Furniture & Equipment 762,135 - - 762,135

Shop Equipment 288,562 - - 288,562

Garage Equipment 232,652 - - 232,652

Radio Equipment 318,006 - - 318,006

Laboratory Equipment 113,415 - - 113,415

Stores Equipment 59,161 - - 59,161

345,537,740 17,367,810 (462,353) 362,443,197

Total Operating Property 352,449,152$   17,886,558$   (479,353)$      369,856,357$ 
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets ± Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets ± Continued  

Dec 31, 2020 Increases Decreases Dec 31, 2021

Cape Elizabeth Wastewater:

Operating Property, not being depreciated

Land 130,048$    -$             -$             130,048$    

Land Rights 95,111 - - 95,111

225,159 - - 225,159

Operating Property, being depreciated

Interceptor Structures 6,315,962 - - 6,315,962

Treatment Plant Equipment 3,419,135 - (54,662) 3,364,473

Pumping Station Equipment 2,804,416 219,582 (98,601) 2,925,397

Treatment Plant Structures 3,200,940 399,015 - 3,599,955

Pumping Station Structures 1,244,753 674,035 (41,181) 1,877,607

General Equipment 197,955 - (22) 197,933

Computer Equipment - 74,729 - 74,729

Interceptor Equipment 11,330 - - 11,330

17,194,491 1,367,361 (194,466) 18,367,386

Total Operating Property 17,419,650 1,367,361 (194,466) 18,592,545

Less, accumulated depreciation for:

Interceptor Structures 4,373,636 126,399 - 4,500,035

Treatment Plant Equipment 2,919,297 185,861 (54,662) 3,050,496

Pumping Station Equipment 2,177,585 119,213 (98,601) 2,198,197

Treatment Plant Structures 1,936,058 65,655 - 2,001,713

Pumping Station Structures 961,171 30,667 (41,181) 950,657

General Equipment 132,664 16,051 - 148,715

Computer Equipment - 4,671 - 4,671

Interceptor Equipment 1,695 147 - 1,842

12,502,106 548,664 (194,444) 12,856,326

Net Operating Property 4,917,544 818,697 (22) 5,736,219

Right to Use Lease Assets:

Right to Use - Land 126,123 - - 126,123

Less, acculumated amortization for lease assets:

Right to Use - Land 3,503 3,504 - 7,007

Net Lease Assets 122,620 (3,504) - 119,116

Construction Work in Progress 1,241,282 46,016 (1,216,613) 70,685

Net Capital Assets 6,281,446$ 861,209$    (1,216,635)$ 5,926,020$ 
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets - Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets - Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets - Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets - Continued

 

 

Dec 31, 2020 Increases Decreases Dec 31, 2021

Portland Wastewater:

Operating Property, not being depreciated

Land 199,555$      -$            -$           199,555$      

Land Rights 233,013 - - 233,013

432,568 - - 432,568

Operating Property, being depreciated

Treatment Plant Structures 35,209,686 1,031,365 - 36,241,051

Interceptor Structures 28,219,221 25,205 - 28,244,426

Treatment Plant Equipment 27,521,048 70,268 (1,100,872) 26,490,444

Pumping Station Structures 11,906,803 446,864 - 12,353,667

Pumping Station Equipment 9,903,213 189,757 (85,204) 10,007,766

Communications Equip.- Collectors 753,873 - - 753,873

Computer Equipment - 523,155 - 523,155

Storm Drains 617,610 - - 617,610

Solids Handling Equipment 407,487 14,797 - 422,284

General Equipment 374,585 6,072 - 380,657

Interceptor Equipment 63,080 - - 63,080

114,976,606 2,307,483 (1,186,076) 116,098,013

Total Operating Property 115,409,174 2,307,483 (1,186,076) 116,530,581

Less, accumulated depreciation for:

Treatment Plant Structures 23,395,041 715,931 - 24,110,972

Interceptor Structures 19,706,616 455,733 - 20,162,349

Treatment Plant Equipment 14,342,821 1,040,586 (1,100,872) 14,282,535

Pumping Station Structures 6,072,271 306,900 - 6,379,171

Pumping Station Equipment 5,675,035 350,519 (53,341) 5,972,213

Communications Equip.- Collectors 598,785 63,033 - 661,818

Solids Handling Equipment 290,422 9,058 - 299,480

General Equipment 274,285 32,958 - 307,243

Storm Drains 235,096 76,863 - 311,959

Interceptor Equipment 63,080 - - 63,080

Computer Equipment - 32,697 - 32,697

70,653,452 3,084,278 (1,154,213) 72,583,517

Construction Work in Progress 1,703,276 3,120,695 (812,710) 4,011,261

Net Capital Assets 46,458,998$ 2,343,900$ (844,573)$ 47,958,325$
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets ± Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUD

Capital Assets - Continued

 
 

Dec 31, 2020 Increases Decreases Dec 31, 2021

Windham Wastewater:

Operating Property, not being depreciated

Land 129,656$    12,900$      -$        142,556$    

Land Rights 13,296 - - 13,296

142,952 12,900 - 155,852

Operating Property, being depreciated

Interceptor Structures 1,789,876 223,917 - 2,013,793

Pumping Station Structures 459,745 293,290 - 753,035

Pumping Station Equipment 425,873 159,788 - 585,661

Treatment Plant Equipment 130,927 9,037 (404) 139,560

Treatment Plant Structures 144,115 1,169 - 145,284

Storm Drains - 46,079 - 46,079

General Equipment 14,153 - - 14,153

Computer Equipment - 6,256 - 6,256

Solids Handling Equipment 683 - - 683

2,965,372 739,536 (404) 3,704,504

Total Operating Property 3,108,324 752,436 (404) 3,860,356

Less, accumulated depreciation for:

Interceptor Structures 550,413 38,037 - 588,450

Pumping Station Equipment 336,697 12,913 - 349,610

Pumping Station Structures 172,384 14,964 - 187,348

Treatment Plant Equipment 88,286 3,874 (319) 91,841

Treatment Plant Structures 112,069 2,717 - 114,786

General Equipment 8,887 494 - 9,381

Computer Equipment - 391 - 391

Storm Drains - 461 - 461

Solids Handling Equipment 683 - - 683

1,269,419 73,851 (319) 1,342,951

Construction Work in Progress 133,002 705,818 (75,520) 763,300

Net Capital Assets 1,971,907$ 1,384,403$ (75,605)$ 3,280,705$ 
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets ± Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets ± Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Capital Assets - Continued

Depreciation expense for each of the funds is noted below. Please note that $960,000 in the Water Fund was allocated 
as part of operating expense.

Depreciation related to vehicles ($400,000) and the main office ($360,000) was allocated to operating expenses based 
RQ�YHKLFOHV¶�KRXUV�DQG�RIILFH�VSDFH�RFFXSLHG�� �'HSUHFLDWLRQ�UHODWHG�WR�WHFKQRORJ\������������ZDV�DOORFDWed to the 
funds based on their percentage of total expenditures. 

Leases ± District as Lessee

As of December 31, 2021 the District was leasing assets for the Water Fund (2) and Cape Elizabeth Wastewater (1):

Peaks Island Storage: The District leases warehouse space on Peaks Island (Portland) from Central Maine Power to 
support the Water Operations group.   The lease began in November 2011 for two (2) five (5) year terms. The lease 
was amended in 2021 adding two (2) additional five (5) year terms through October of 2031. The cost for 2021 was 
$6,160. The cost is $6,776/year for the initial term and $7,454/year for the second with payment due the first day of 
HDFK�\HDU¶V�OHDVH�WHUP�

Finance Department Mail Machine: The lease with Pitney Bowes started in October 2019 and has a five (5) year 
term through the end of September 2024 and calls for quarterly payments of $817.

Intangible Accumulated Net Lease Lease

Water Fund Asset Amortization Asset Liability

Peaks Island Storage $67,045 ($6,705) $60,340 $60,883

Finance Mail Machine 15,119 (6,366) 8,753 8,831

$82,164 ($13,071) $69,093 $69,714

The annual lease payments to amortize the lease liability are, as follows:

Years Ending, December 31, Principal Interest Total

2022 $9,283 $762 $10,045

2023 9,388 657 10,045

2024 8,676 551 9,228

2025 6,308 468 6,776

2026 7,055 399 7,454

2027-2030 29,004 810 29,814

$69,714 $3,647 $73,361
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Leases ± District as Lessee - Continued

Cape Elizabeth Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) Land (Cape Elizabeth WW): The District leases the 

land for the treatment plant from the Town of Cape Elizabeth.  The original lease commenced in 1985 with a term of 

40 years expiring at the end of April 2025.   That lease has been amended to extend the lease until April 2055.  The 

annual rent is currently $4,000 and will have annual 2.0% increases each year starting in 2025.

Leases ± District as Lessor

As of December 31, 2021, the District leased five (5) Water fund assets:

Shore Acres Tank ± AT&T: 7KH� FHOO� SKRQH� SURYLGHU� OHDVHV� VSDFH� RQ� WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�ZDWHU� WDQN� ORFDWHG� LQ�&DSH�

Elizabeth for their equipment.  The lease commenced in November 2014 with an initial five (5) year term.  The lease 

contains an additional four extensions which if executed would extend the lease until the end of October 2039.  The 

District expects these extensions will take place. Payments are made monthly and as of the end of 2021 were 

$3,075/month.   The contract includes an automatic increase of 3.0% each year in November.

Shore Acres Tank ± Verizon: 7KH�FHOO�SKRQH�SURYLGHU� OHDVHV�VSDFH�RQ� WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�ZDWHU� WDQN� ORFDWHG� LQ�&DSH�

Elizabeth for their equipment.   The dates and terms are the same as the AT&T contract.

Broadway South Portland ± AIM: The District leases the land on top a transmission water main to AIM Broadway 

LLC which constructed a parking lot.  The original lease started in 1998 and was later extended until the end of 2038.   

The current annual rent is $2,196 and have 10.0% increases in 2023, 2028 and 2033.

Intangable Accumulated Net Lease Lease

Cape Elizabeth Wastewater Asset Amortization Asset Liability

Cape Elizabeth WWTF Land $126,123 ($7,007) $119,116 $121,763

The annual lease payments to amortize the lease liability are, as follows:

Years Ending, December 31, Principal Interest Total

2022 $1,308 $2,692 $4,000

2023 1,337 2,663 4,000

2024 1,366 2,634 4,000

2025 1,397 2,603 4,000

2026 1,507 2,573 4,080

2027-2031 9,348 12,311 21,659

2032-2036 12,784 11,131 23,915

2037-2041 16,872 9,543 26,415

2042-2046 21,697 7,471 29,168

2047-2051 27,373 4,830 32,203

2052-2055 26,774 1,385 28,159

$121,763 $59,836 $181,599
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS ± CONTINUED

Leases ± District as Lessor - Continued

Broadway South Portland ± Pape Subaru: The District leases the land on top of a transmission water main to FWP 

Realty Company (Pape Subaru) which constructed a driveway and utility crossing.  The lease was initiated in 2002 

with a 20 year term expiring in 2022.   The current annual rent is $1,997. 

Main Street Gorham ± Madison VWB: ± The District leases land next to the inactive water pumping station on 

Main Street in Gorham.  The lease was originated in 2021 with a five (5) year term and an option for addition five (5) 

years through the end of 2030.  The annual rent is $2,420 for the first term and $2,662 for the second.

Long-Term Debt - Bonds

The following is a summary of changes in bonds, including current portions reported in the Statement of Net Position:

General Revenue bonds:

 

Lease Interest Total Lease Deferred

Water Fund Revenue Income Income Receivable Inflow

Shore Acres Tank - AT&T $37,690 $14,874 $52,564 $707,012 $673,705

Shore Acres Tank - Verizon 37,690  14,874  52,564   707,012      673,705      

Broadway So Portland - AIM 2,198    740       2,938     35,519        34,259        

Broadway So Portland - Pape 1,980    22         2,002     -              -              

Main St. Gorham - Madison VWB 2,379    29         2,408     21,395        21,408        

$81,937 $30,539 $112,476 $1,470,938 $1,403,077
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Long-Term Debt - Bonds - Continued 

Long-term debt outstanding as of December 31, 2021, consisted of the following general revenue bonds: 

Water Fund:

Issue Original Maturities Interest Rate
Date Amount  Through     Range    Amount Current Non-Current

Oct-05 900,000$         2025 3.0% to 5.0% 180,000$         

Oct-06 1,500,000$      2026 3.0% to 5.0% 375,000$         

Oct-08 1,500,000$      2028 2.1% to 5.6% 525,000$         

Apr-09 1,598,500$      2029 1.050% 559,475$         

May-09 4,519,800$      2029 2.1% to 5.6% 1,807,920$      

May-09 180,200$         2029 2.1% to 5.6% 72,080$           

Aug-09 2,991,066$      2029 0.0% 1,196,426$      

Aug-09 163,953$         2029 0.0% 65,581$           

May-10 400,000$         2030 2.1% to 5.7% 225,000$         

Nov-10 902,500$         2030 1.0% 406,125$         

Oct-11 2,300,000$      2031 0.5% to 5.5% 1,150,000$      

May-12 1,130,000$      2032 1.0% 621,500$         

Oct-12 2,000,000$      2032 1.5% to 3.7% 1,100,000$      

May-13 2,850,000$      2033 1.0% 1,650,000$      

May-13 1,428,000$      2033 0.6% to 3.7% 856,800$         

Nov-13 8,000,000$      2033 2.0% to 4.3% 5,200,000$      

Nov-13 1,072,000$      2033 1.1% 643,200$         

Jun-14 2,541,000$      2034 2.7% 1,630,000$      

Jun-14 2,000,000$      2024 2.7% 600,000$         

May-15 459,000$         2035 0.2% 299,913$         

Jun-15 2,000,000$      2025 3.0% 800,000$         

Jun-15 3,230,000$      2035 3.0% 2,240,000$      

Jun-15 500,000$         2035 3.0% 350,000$         

Dec-15 270,000$         2035 1.0% 189,000$         

Jun-16 385,000$         2036 3.0% to 4.0% 285,000$         

Jun-16 1,830,000$      2026 3.0% to 4.0% 905,000$         

Jun-16 1,830,000$      2036 3.0% to 4.0% 1,355,000$      

Jun-16 1,734,250$      2036 3.0% to 4.0% 953,750$         

Jun-16 185,813$         2036 3.0% to 4.0% 102,188$         

Jun-16 3,034,938$      2036 3.0% to 4.0% 1,669,063$      

Sep-16 1,158,979$      2036 1.0% 890,486$         

Sep-16 566,362$         2036 1.0% 435,157$         

Jul-17 3,725,000$      2037 3.0% to 5.0% 2,975,000$      

Jul-17 1,875,000$      2027 3.0% to 5.0% 1,125,000$      

Mar-18 1,900,000$      2038 1.0% 1,595,792$      

Aug-18 1,000,000$      2038 5.00% 700,000$         

Aug-18 900,000$         2038 3.0% to 5.0% 765,000$         

Aug-18 2,000,000$      2028 5.00% 1,400,000$      

Nov-18 3,000,000$      2038 1.0% 2,550,000$      

Aug-19 4,500,000$      2039 3% to 5% 4,050,000$      

Aug-19 2,000,000$      2029 2% to 5% 1,600,000$      

Jan-20 295,000$         2030 1.0% 236,000$         

Jul-20 1,745,000$      2040 2% to 5% 1,658,000$      

Jul-20 1,830,000$      2030 5.00% 1,647,000$      

Nov-20 220,000$         2040 1.0% 209,000$         

Jul-21 3,479,157$      2041 2% to 5% 3,479,157$      

Jul-21 1,743,308$      2031 5.00% 1,743,308$      

Jul-21 1,152,535$      2041 2% to 5% 1,152,535$      

Dec-21 2,100,000$      2041 1.0% 2,100,000$      

Dec-21 480,000$         2041 1.0% 480,000$         

58,804,455$    5,587,257$        53,217,198$    
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Long-Term Debt - Bonds ± Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Long-Term Debt - Bonds - Continued
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED 

Long-Term Debt -Bonds - Continued

The municipalities comprising the District have ratified a resolution to levy taxes in the event of default by the District on 
either principal or interest payments of its water system debt.

The municipalities that have wastewater systems pay for the debt service through assessments made on them by the 
District. The debt of the wastewater system is backed by the good faith and credit of each of the municipalities.

Green Bonds

On July 29, 2021, the District issued bonds in the amount of $6.375 million for the purpose of improvements to water 
mains and other related infrastructure. Water main projects are environmentally beneficial because they are designed to 
ensure safe drinking water for the public in accordance with State, Federal and local standards. The same is true in regards 
to sewer infrastructure upgrades in that efforts are designed to address water quality standards related to the sewer system 
DQG�LWV�VXUURXQGLQJV��7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�RI�7UXVWHHV�GHVLJQDWHG�DOO�RI�WKHVH�ERQGV�DV�³*UHHQ�%RQGV�´��%\�WDNLQJ�WKLV�
action, purchasers of the Bonds can invest directly in environmentally beneficial projects.  The holders of the bonds do not 
assume any specific project risk or economic benefit related to any of the funded projects as the result of the Green Bonds 
designation.

As of December 31, 2021, the District still had spent $5.13 million of the original bond principal on qualifying projects 
leaving $1.25 million in unspent bond proceeds from the 2021 Green Bond issuance.  

Additionally, there were $16,940 remaining from a 2020 Green Bond issued in the amount of $1.35 million in the Portland 
Wastewater fund. Those funds will be used on final project costs in early 2022.

Deferred Outflow - Bond Refunding

During 2016, the District refunded $5,160,000 in bonds in the Water Fund and incurred a $247,093 loss. The loss was 

recorded as Deferred Outflow and as of December 31, 2021 had a balance of $51,100.  The remaining balance will be 

amortized for the remaining life of the original bonds:

Beginning Ending

Years Ending, December 31, Balance Reduction Balance

2022 51,100        (20,000)        31,100        

2023 31,100        (15,100)        16,000        

2024 16,000        (10,100)        5,900          

2025 5,900          (5,400)          500              

2026 500              (500)             -              

(51,100)$      
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Long-Term Debt 
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NOTE 3 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS - CONTINUED

Notes Payable

The Windham Wastewater fund has one note payable. That note payable is related to the purchase of assets from the
Westbrook Wastewater Fund. The note was originated in 2008, has an average annual interest rate of 4.395% and has a 
20-year term.

The annual debt service requirements to amortize notes payable are, as follows:

Compensated Absences

Sick Time: District employees can be paid out up to 400 hours of sick time upon retirement. The actuary hired by the 
District determined the value of that liability. The current portion of that liability is equal to the liability of the employees 
who would be eligible to retire through the end of the next year.

Vacation Time: District employees earn vacation time based on their years of service.  The liability for vacation time is 
HTXDO�WR�WKH�VXP�RI�DOO�HPSOR\HHV¶�YDFDWLRQ�KRXUV�WLPHV�WKHLU�UDWH�RI�SD\���7KH�FXUUHnt portion is equal to the vacation time 
they are expected to take in the next year.

NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION

Risk Management

The District is exposed to various risk of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and 
omissions; and natural disaster for which the District carries commercial insurance. There have been no significant 
reductions in the commercial coverage from the prior year and no settlements have exceeded insurance coverage in any of 
the past three years.

 

Dec 31, 2020 Increases Decreases Dec 31, 2021 Current Non-Current

Windham Wastewater Fund:

2008 Note 105,920$     -$          (13,240)$     92,680$      13,240$      79,440$        

Years Ending December 31, Principal Interest Total

2022 13,240 4,073 17,313

2023 13,240 3,491 16,731

2024 13,240 2,909 16,149

2025 13,240 2,328 15,568

2026 13,240 1,746 14,986

2027-2028 26,480 1,745 28,225

92,680$      16,292$ 108,972$
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Commitments and Contingencies

At December 31, 2021, the District was committed on signed, but incomplete, construction and other contracts with a
remaining balance of $14,127,252, which is broken down by funds, as follows:

Water Fund $2,425,145
Cape Elizabeth Wastewater 553,747
Gorham Wastewater 1,936,314
Portland Wastewater 4,059,878
Westbrook Wastewater 4,289,709
Windham Wastewater 862,459

Bond Commitments:

As of December 31, 2021, WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�RI�7UXVWHHV�DSSURYHG�UHVROXWLRQV�IRU�WKH�LVVXDQFH�RI�WKH�IROORZLQJ�ERQGV�
that have yet to be issued as of the date of this report:

Cumberland Wastewater - Commitments and Contingencies:

The Town of Falmouth provides wastewater treatment services to the Cumberland Wastewater fund. In 2007, the Town 
issued a 20-year bond to finance an upgrade at their treatment plant. The District agreed the Cumberland fund would pay 
30% of the debt service payments. As of December 31, 2021, the total remaining debt payments to be paid by the 
Cumberland fund were $682,170.

The Falmouth Wastewater fund has issued two bonds, $4.0 million in 2016 and $0.76 million in 2017, for the 
replacement/upgrade of the Mill Creek wastewater pump station and force main. The Cumberland Wastewater fund agreed 
to pay 43.7% of the debt service payments. As of December 31, 2021, the total remaining debt payments for the
Cumberland fund through 2037 were $1,787,973.



Portland Water District 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2021

 

54

NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Commitments and Contingencies - Continued

Wastewater Funds - Commitments and Contingencies:

The Department of Environmental Protection and Environmental Protection Agency, local municipalities, and the 
District have entered into agreements to abate combined sewer overflows (CSO) and wet weather overflows in the 
respective Cities of Portland and Westbrook and the Town of Cape Elizabeth. Since the District operates the 
interception and treatment facilities and the municipalities operate the collection systems, the municipality and the 
District have responsibility to complete certain projects under the agreements. Periodically, the plans are reviewed 
and updated based on the impact of completion of prior projects. The current status of the agreements is outlined 
below:

The City of Portland submitted an updated plan in 2011. This 15-year plan was estimated to cost $167 
million, including approximately $45 million of projects to be completed by the District towards the end of 
the plan. The City of Portland completed an update to the Long Term Control Plan in 2020 as part of the 
Integrated Planning process. The City and MEDEP continue to negotiate on the final plan based on the work 
submitted. 

The City of Westbrook and the District submitted an updated plan in December 2014 for the next 5 years. The 
City of Westbrook has completed its projects and is on schedule to meet the requirements of the current 
plan. The 5-year plan is currently being developed with the help of an engineering consultant and following 
updated flow monitoring, the draft Long Term Control Plan update will be submitted to DEP for their 
approval by the end of 2022.

The Town of Cape Elizabeth, the City of South Portland and the District submitted a draft plan for the Ottawa 
Road CSO in 2011. Because the combined sewer overflow is impacted by flow from the City of South 
Portland, the City of South Portland is also a party to the agreement. The 5-year plan was expected to cost 
$2,362,000, with the bulk of that cost being the responsibility of the Town of Cape Elizabeth and City of 
South Portland. Both the Town and City have completed projects to remove extraneous flow from the 
system. The flow reductions from these projects will be quantified and the District has upgraded the station 
pumps to increase the capacity of the station. The flow from the area will be monitored to assess the benefits 
of this work.

In 2006, the District entered into a biosolids management agreement with New England Organics (now Casella Organics). 
Casella agreed to provide for the transportation and processing of wastewater treatment plant residual called biosolids.  In 
December 2020 the parties signed an amendment for additional five year period through the end of 2025. It is estimated 
that payments of approximately $2,333,500 will be made to Casella in 2022.

All Funds - Commitments and Contingencies:

The District purchases its electricity from Constellation Energy through an energy aggregation group ± Maine Power 
Option.  Energy contracts for small, medium and large accounts have been signed through the end of 2024.  The estimated 
cost of electricity in 2022 is $1,020,505.

2Q�-DQXDU\�����������WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�RI�7UXVWHHV�DXWKRUL]HG�HQWHULQJ�LQWR�D���-year contract to purchase net energy 
billing credits and renewable energy certificates (REC) generated from solar and hydro power electricity producers.  The 
District signed a contract for obligating it to annually pay $1,011,400 to electricity producers for 10,790,000 kilowatts.  
The payment is offset by energy billing credits on our electricity bills and sale of the REC.  Given the current billing credit 
rates and REC value, the District would generate $1,456,700, resulting in a net savings of $445,300.  The billing credit 
rates are established annually by the Maine Public Utilities.  Most of the projects have not been completed as of the end of 
2021 so the full cost and benefits have not be realized   
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Trustee Held Funds

7KH�'LVWULFW�SDUWLFLSDWHV�LQ�WKH�6WDWH�RI�0DLQH¶V�UHYROYLQJ�ORDQ�IXQG�SURJUDP� The program administrator retains the bond 
proceeds until the District expends the funds and requests reimbursement. During 2021, the District issued bonds through 
this program in the Water, Cape Elizabeth and Portland funds.

Net Position

Net position invested in capital assets in each fund is net of related debt plus unspent bond proceeds of $1,529,299:

Water Fund $1,254,269
Gorham Wastewater 18,309
Portland Wastewater 16,940
Westbrook Wastewater 39,591
Windham Wastewater 200,190

Pension Plans

Plan Descriptions: The 3RUWODQG� :DWHU� 'LVWULFW� DGPLQLVWHUV� WKH� 'LVWULFW¶V� QRQ-bargaining unit and bargaining unit
HPSOR\HHV¶� SHQVLRQ� SODQV�� Both are single-employer defined benefit pension plans. No employee contributions are 
required by the plans. Management of the plans is vested in the Portland Water District Board. Membership in the 
respective plans is, as follows:

As of January 1, 2021 As of January 1, 2022
Bargaining

Unit
Non-Bargaining

Unit
Bargaining

Unit
Non-Bargaining

Unit
Active employees included in plan 50 24 43 23
Retired employees and beneficiaries 94 44 105 43
Terminated employees with vested rights 39 12 27 11

183 80 175 77

The pension plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report. 

Eligibility for each plan requires the participants to be eighteen years of age and to have fulfilled five years of continuous 
service. 8QLRQ�PHPEHUV�DQG�QRQXQLRQ�PHPEHUV�DUH�UHVSHFWLYHO\�HOLJLEOH�IRU�WKH�EDUJDLQLQJ�XQLW�HPSOR\HHV¶�SHQVLRQ�SODQ�
or the non-bargaining unit plan. 

The Trustees of the District elected to freeze eligibility for newly hired bargaining unit and non-bargaining unit employees
as of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011, respectively. Those employees receive a contribution to the deferred 
compensation plan (see Deferred Compensation Plan). Employees hired before those dates and transferred between units 
are required to participate in the deferred compensation plan unless they make a one-time irrevocable decision to continue 
participation in the defined benefit plan.
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Pension Plans - Continued

In both plans, members are partially vested after five years and fully vested after seven years of continuous service. 
Participants who retire at or after age sixty-five with seven or more years of credited service are entitled to an annual 
retirement benefit payable monthly for life, as follows:

Non-Bargaining Unit Participants: The annual benefit is equal to 1% of the average of the employees three
highest annual earnings times the number of total years of service up to forty-five years, plus up to 0.6% of 
average annual earnings in excess of covered compensation times credited service up to thirty-five years.

Bargaining Unit Participants: Effective November 2, 2020, the monthly pension benefit is computed based on a
$38.25 (previously $37.75) rate for pay grades A through E and a $39.25 (previously $38.75) rate for employees 
in pay grades F through L. Those dollars are multiplied by the number of creditable years of continuous service 
with Portland Water District, to a maximum of forty-five years. The maximum monthly benefit is $1,721.25
(previously $1,698.75) for employees in pay grades A through E and $1,766.25 (previously $1,743.75) for 
employees in pay grades F through L.

Employees 55 or older and vested in the plan may retire. Benefits are actuarially reduced if an employee retires before
turning 65 unless the employee is 62 or older with 30 years or more of service.

Benefits payable may be increased annually, at the discretion of the Board of Trustees, up to the 50% of the consumer 
price index or 5%, whichever is lower. The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions for both plans rests with 
the 'LVWULFW¶V�Board of Trustees. A stand-alone report is not issued for either of the plans. 7KH�DVVHWV�LQ�WKH�SODQV¶�SHQVLRQ�
funds are presented as fiduciary funds on the accompanying financial statements.

Administrative Expenses: All administrative expenses are paid by the District and allocated to the individual funds. Such
expenses were $194,575 for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Funding Policy: 7KH�'LVWULFW¶V� SROLF\� LV� WR� FRQWULEXWH� DW� OHDVW the actuarially determined contribution to the plans or
$1,000,000, whichever is higher. No employee contributions are required by the plans. 7KH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�DXWKRUL]HV�
the specific contribution annually. For the year ended December 31, 2021, a total contribution of $1,424,313 was made
with a contribution of $816,192 and $608,121 to the bargaining and non-bargaining units, respectively. The contributions 
represented 32.5% and 25.0��RI�WKH�UHVSHFWLYH�SODQ¶V�FRYHUHG�FRPSHQVDWLRQ�

Net Pension Liability: The liability as of December 31, 2021 is based an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2022 that was 
adjusted back to December 31, 2021. Balances as of December 31, 2021 are, as follows:
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Pension Plans - Continued

 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability: The changes in each of the pension plans for the year ending December 31, 2021

are listed below:
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Pension Plans - Continued

Additional information from the January 1, 2022 actuarial valuation is listed below. The valuation was updated and 

rolled back to the December 31, 2021 measurement date. 

Bargaining Unit Non-Bargaining Unit
Valuation date
Measurement date

January 1, 2022
December 31, 2021

January 1, 2022
December 31, 2021

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Entry Age
Amortization method- investment
Amortization method- liability
Amortization method-assumption
Amortization method-benefit change

5-Year Period
Expected Future Service
Expected Future Service
3 Year Period

5-Year Period
Expected Future Service
Expected Future Service
3 Year Period

Asset valuation method 5-Year Smoothed Market 5-Year Smoothed Market
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 6.0% 6.0%
Projected salary increases 3.0% 3.0%
Inflation rate
COLA (post-retirement)

1.5%
1.5%

1.5%
1.5%

Retirement age Graded by age based on past 
experience

Graded by age based on past 
experience

Mortality Pri-2012 Blue Collar Dataset 
Employee Amount ±
Weighted Mortality with 
Scale MP-2021

RP-2012 Total Dataset Employee 
Amount ± Weighted Mortality
with Scale MP-2021

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined 
using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset 
FODVV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�SHQVLRQ�SODQ¶V�WDUJHW�DVVHt allocation as of June 30, 2021 �VHH�WKH�GLVFXVVLRQ�RI�WKH�SHQVLRQ�SODQ¶V�
investment policy) are summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation

Annual Return 
Estimate 7- & 20-

Year Horizon

U.S. Equities Large 25% 4.30%/7.80%
U.S. Equities Small 15% 6.40%/7.55%
International Developed Market Equities 15% 4.60%/6.60%
International Emerging Market Equities 10% 7.80%/8.40%
Core Bonds 20% 1.10%/3.20%
High Yield Bonds 5% 1.20%/5.00%
REIT's 5% 6.00%/6.10%
Natural Resources 5% 5.60%/5.40%
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Pension Plans - Continued

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.0%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed the District contributions will be made at the rate equal to the actuarially determined 
contribution or $1,000,000, whichever is higher. Based on those assumptions, the pension plans¶�ILGXFLDU\�QHW�SRVLWLRQ�
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: The following presents the net pension liability 
of the District, calculated using the discount rate of 6.0%, as well as what the DisWULFW¶V�QHW�SHQVLRQ�OLDELOLW\�ZRXOG�EH�LI�LW�
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.0%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.0%) than the 
current rate:

1% Decrease
(5.0%)

Current Discount Rate
(6.0%)

1% Increase
(7.0%)

Bargaining Unit Net Pension Liability $2,026,201 $ 204,274 $(1,346,381)
Non-Bargaining Unit Net Pension Liability $1,457,762 $(105,302) $(1,440,862)

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflow of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions: For the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the District recognized pension expense for the bargaining and non-bargaining unit of $(521,224) 
and $127,641, respectively. At December 31, 2021, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized
in pension expense, as follows:

Bargaining

Non-

Bargaining Total Bargaining

Non-

Bargaining Total

Difference between Expected and 

Actual Expense 45,211$         147,942$       193,153$         -$              4,015$          4,015$             

Difference between Projected and 

Actual Returns -                -                -                  1,517,151     1,346,948     2,864,099        

Impact of Assumption Changes 527,671         119,101         646,772           -                -                -                  

572,882$       267,043$       839,925$         1,517,151$   1,350,963$   2,868,114$      

Deferred Inflows of ResourcesDeferred Outflows of Resources
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Pension Plans - Continued
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Pension Plans ± Continued
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NOTE 4 - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Pension Plans - Continued

Deferred Compensation Plan

The District offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 
457. The plan permits the employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The deferred compensation is 
not available to employees until termination, retirement, death or unforeseeable emergency.

For Bargaining Unit employees hired as of December 31, 2010, and Non-Bargaining Unit employees hired as of December 
31, 2011, the plan and their level of contribution is optional. During 2013, the District matched employee contributions at 
the rate of a dollar for dollar match to a limit of $1,225 per year for Bargaining Unit employees and Non-Bargaining Unit 
employees.

For Bargaining Unit employees hired after December 31, 2010, and Non-Bargaining Unit employees hired after December 
31, 2011, the plan is mandatory. Employees are required to contribute 3.0% of their regular wages to the plan with a 
District match 150%. Employees can also elect to receive a 150% match on an additional 1.5% of regular wages beyond 
the mandatory 3.0%.

The District has no liability for losses under the plan but does have the usual fiduciary responsibilities of a plan sponsor.
The assets and liabilities of the plan are not reflected in the financial statements of the District.

Subsequent Events

On January 24, 2022��WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�Board of Trustees approved Order 22-001 which put in place a 3.7% water rate 

adjustment.   The increase, effective March 1, 2022, is projected to increase water revenue by $962,906.

On February 28, 2022 WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�RI�7UXVWHHV�DSSURYHG�UHVROXWLRQV�IRU�WKH�LVVXDQFH�RI�WKH�IROORZLQJ�ERQGV�

that have yet to be issued:
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6FKHGXOHV�RI�&KDQJHV�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�1HW�3HQVLRQ�/LDELOLW\�DQG�5HODWHG�5DWLRV�- Bargaining Unit Pension Plan

 

2018 2019 2020 2021

Total Pension Liability

Service cost  $              160,841  $              153,079  $              143,565  $            128,489 

Interest                  966,881                  984,696                  976,184                913,919 

Change in benefit terms                            -                    124,915                            -                              -   

Difference between expected and actual experience                 (138,333)                 (273,426)                 (954,383)                118,140 

Changes in assumptions                            -                    275,750                  290,329             1,378,752 

Benefit payments                 (699,644)                 (745,100)                 (818,174)               (908,368)

Net change in total pension liability                  289,745                  519,914                 (362,479)             1,630,932 

Net pension liability - beginning             15,100,057             15,389,802             15,909,716           15,547,237 

Total pension liability - ending (a)  $         15,389,802  $         15,909,716  $         15,547,237  $      17,178,169 

Plan fiduciary net position

Contribution - employer  $              817,528  $              657,022  $              632,344  $            816,192 

Net investment income                 (889,719)               2,299,668               1,844,172             1,791,576 

Benefit payments                 (699,644)                 (745,100)                 (818,174)               (908,368)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position                 (771,835)               2,211,590               1,658,342             1,699,400 

Plan fiduciary of net position - beginning             12,176,397             11,404,562             13,616,152           15,274,495 

Plan fiduciary of net position - ending (b)  $         11,404,562  $         13,616,152  $         15,274,494  $      16,973,895 

Net pension liability - ending (a)-(b)  $           3,985,240  $           2,293,564  $              272,743  $            204,274 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of total pension liability 74% 86% 98% 99%

Covered payroll 3,367,434$           3,365,672$           2,968,576$           2,514,595$        

District's net pension liability as a percentage

of covered payroll 118% 68% 9% 8%

Schedule of Investment Returns

2018 2019 2020 2021

Annual money-weighted rate of return, net

of investment return (7.16%) 19.98% 12.81% 12.42%
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6FKHGXOHV�RI�&KDQJHV�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�1HW�3HQVLRQ�/LDELOLW\�DQG�5HODWHG�5DWLRV�- Bargaining Unit Pension Plan 

- Continued

Information is only available VWDUWLQJ�ZLWK�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�*$6%����LQ�������DGGLWLRQDO�\HDU¶V�LQIRUPDWLRQ�ZLOO�EH�

displayed as it becomes available.

2014 2015 2016 2017

Total Pension Liability

Service cost  $          168,163  $          195,241  $          169,601  $          168,310 

Interest              784,769              918,080              958,787              955,116 

Change in benefit terms                        -                          -                  94,108                13,576 

Difference between expected and actual experience           1,635,699             (115,154)             (154,202)              136,114 

Changes in assumptions                        -                          -               (504,440)              644,838 

Benefit payments             (507,918)             (564,678)             (584,988)             (631,191)

Net change in total pension liability           2,080,713              433,489               (21,134)           1,286,763 

Net pension liability - beginning         11,320,226         13,400,939         13,834,428         13,813,294 

Total pension liability - ending (a)  $     13,400,939  $     13,834,428  $     13,813,294  $     15,100,057 

Plan fiduciary net position

Contribution - employer  $          502,000  $          609,851  $          684,363  $          870,877 

Net investment income              377,415               (73,698)              781,667           2,067,152 

Benefit payments             (507,918)             (564,679)             (584,988)             (631,191)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position              371,497               (28,526)              881,042           2,306,838 

Plan fiduciary of net position - beginning           8,645,546           9,017,043           8,988,517           9,869,559 

Plan fiduciary of net position - ending (b)  $       9,017,043  $       8,988,517  $       9,869,559  $     12,176,397 

Net pension liability - ending (a)-(b)  $       4,383,896  $       4,845,911  $       3,943,735  $       2,923,660 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of total pension liability 67% 65% 71% 81%

Covered payroll 4,198,147$       4,048,574$       4,026,235$       3,825,166$       

District's net pension liability as a percentage

of covered payroll 104% 120% 98% 76%

Schedule of Investment Returns

2014 2015 2016 2017

Annual money-weighted rate of return, net

of investment return 4.27% (0.97%) 8.38% 19.98%
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6FKHGXOHV�RI�&KDQJHV�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�1HW�3HQVLRQ�/LDELOLW\�DQG�5HODWHG�5DWLRV�± Non-Bargaining Unit Pension 

Plan

2018 2019 2020 2021

Total Pension Liability

Service cost 192,284$          190,869$          198,332$          212,607$      

Interest 803,360 824,557 821,796 818,185

Change in benefit terms - - - -

Difference between expected and actual experience 43,588 185,820 (76,959) 315,451

Changes in assumptions - - 207,627 230,871

Benefit payments (710,413) (713,961) (685,000) (685,250)

Net change in total pension liability 328,819 487,285 465,796 891,864

Net pension liability - beginning 12,525,345 12,854,166 13,341,455 13,807,251

Total pension liability - ending (a) 12,854,164$     13,341,451$     13,807,251$     14,699,115$

Plan fiduciary net position

Contribution - employer 596,920$          455,752$          488,318$          608,121$      

Net investment income (805,757) 2,049,544 1,624,656 1,563,111

Benefit payments (710,413) (713,961) (685,000) (685,250)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (919,250) 1,791,335 1,427,974 1,485,982

Plan fiduciary of net position - beginning 11,018,376 10,099,126 11,890,461 13,318,435

Plan fiduciary of net position - ending (b) 10,099,126$     11,890,461$     13,318,435$     14,804,417$

Net pension liability - ending (a)-(b) 2,755,038$       1,450,990$       488,816$          (105,302)$     

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of total pension liability 79% 89% 96% 101%

Covered payroll 2,094,659$       2,165,844$       2,268,241$       2,427,926$   

District's net pension liability as a percentage

of covered payroll 132% 67% 22% -4%

Schedule of Investment Returns

2018 2019 2020 2021

Annual money-weighted rate of return,

net of investment return (7.26%) 20.37% 13.64% 12.43%
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6FKHGXOHV�RI�&KDQJHV�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�1HW�3HQVLRQ�/LDELOLW\�DQG�5HODWHG�5DWLRV�± Non-Bargaining Unit Pension 

Plan - Continued

,QIRUPDWLRQ�LV�RQO\�DYDLODEOH�VWDUWLQJ�ZLWK�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�*$6%����LQ�������DGGLWLRQDO�\HDU¶V�LQIRUPDWLRQ�ZLOO�EH�

displayed as it becomes available.

2014 2015 2016 2017

Total Pension Liability

Service cost 205,440$          229,085$          214,157$          196,096$          

Interest 672,086 802,879 849,544 852,297

Change in benefit terms - - - 10,063

Difference between expected and actual experience 1,809,303 79,616 (29,531) (746,340)

Changes in assumptions - - (324,599) 533,290

Benefit payments (587,753) (651,317) (621,009) (657,627)

Net change in total pension liability 2,099,076 460,263 88,562 187,779

Net pension liability - beginning 9,689,665 11,788,741 12,249,004 12,337,566

Total pension liability - ending (a) 11,788,741$     12,249,004$     12,337,566$     12,525,345$     

Plan fiduciary net position

Contribution - employer 424,000$          390,149$          515,637$          712,137$          

Net investment income 375,587 (47,726) 687,358 1,867,678

Benefit payments (587,753) (651,317) (621,009) (657,627)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 211,834 (308,894) 581,986 1,922,188

Plan fiduciary of net position - beginning 8,611,262 8,823,096 8,514,202 9,096,188

Plan fiduciary of net position - ending (b) 8,823,096$       8,514,202$       9,096,188$       11,018,376$     

Net pension liability - ending (a)-(b) 2,965,645$       3,734,802$       3,241,378$       1,506,969$       

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of total pension liability 75% 70% 74% 88%

Covered payroll 2,855,590$       2,753,837$       2,584,837$       2,238,080$       

District's net pension liability as a percentage

of covered payroll 104% 136% 125% 67%

Schedule of Investment Returns

2014 2015 2016 2017

Annual money-weighted rate of return,

net of investment return 4.29% (0.95%) 7.92% 19.85%
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information will be displayed as it becomes available. The actuarial determined rate was determined using the January 
1, 2022 actuarial valuation report.

Additional information from the January 1, 2022 actuarial valuation follows:

Bargaining Unit Non-Bargaining Unit
Valuation date
Measurement date

January 1, 2022
December 31, 2021

January 1, 2022
December 31, 2021

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Entry Age
Amortization method - investment
Amortization method - liability
Amortization method - assumption
Amortization method - benefit change

5-Year Period
Expected Future Service
Expected Future Service
3-Year Period

5-Year Period
Expected Future Service
Expected Future Service
3-Year Period

Asset valuation method 5-Year Smoothed Market 5-Year Smoothed Market
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 6.0% 6.0%
Projected salary increases 3.0% 3.0%
Inflation rate
COLA (post-retirement)

1.5%
1.5%

1.5%
1.5%

Retirement age Graded by age based on past 
experience

Graded by age based on past 
experience

Mortality Pri-2012 Blue Collar Dataset 
Employee Amount ±
Weighted Mortality with 
Scale MP-2021

RP-2012 Total Dataset Employee 
Amount ± Weighted Mortality 
with Scale MP-2021

Actuarially Actual Contribution Contribution as a

Determined Employer Deficiency Covered Percentage of

Fiscal year ending Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

Bargaining Unit

2014 451,021$     502,000$     (50,979)$      4,198,147$    12.0%

2015 560,263$     609,581$     (49,318)$      4,048,574$    15.1%

2016 672,450$     684,363$     (11,913)$      4,026,235$    17.0%

2017 870,877$     870,877$     -$                 3,825,166$    22.8%

2018 817,528$     817,528$     -$                 3,367,434$    24.3%

2019 657,022$     657,022$     -$                 3,365,672$    19.5%

2020 632,344$     632,344$     -$                 2,968,576$    21.3%

2021 816,192$     816,192$     -$                 2,514,595$    32.5%

Non-Bargaining Unit

2014 405,542$     424,000$     (18,458)$      2,855,590$    14.8%

2015 358,425$     390,149$     (31,724)$      2,753,837$    14.2%

2016 503,724$     515,637$     (11,913)$      2,584,837$    19.9%

2017 712,137$     712,137$     -$                 2,238,080$    31.8%

2018 596,920$     596,920$     -$                 2,094,659$    28.5%

2019 455,752$     455,752$     -$                 2,165,844$    21.0%

2020 488,318$     488,318$     -$                 2,268,241$    21.5%

2021 608,121$     608,121$     -$                 2,427,926$    25.0%
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Schedule of Investment Returns

Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expense:

Bargaining Unit Non-Bargaining Unit
2021
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016

12.42%
12.81%
19.98%
(7.16%)
19.98%

8.38%

12.43%
13.64%
20.37%
(7.26%)
19.85%
7.92%

2015
2014

(0.97%)
4.27%

(0.95%)
4.29%
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial 

Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Portland Water District 
Portland, Maine 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of each major fund of Portland Water 
District (the District), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report 
thereon, dated April 27, 2022. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that 
have not been identified. 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
 



To the Board of Trustees 
Portland Water District 
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Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
South Portland, Maine 
April 27, 2022

ChapmaA
Wipfli signature stamp
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and Report on Internal 
Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 

 
 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Portland Water District 
Portland, Maine 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited Portland Water District’s (the District) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of the District’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2021. The 
District’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the 
year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program. 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section 
of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. 
Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the District’s 
federal programs. 
 



To the Board of Trustees 
Portland Water District 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the District’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud 
is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the 
District’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the District’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of the District’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 
 



To the Board of Trustees 
Portland Water District 
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Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
South Portland, Maine 
April 27, 2022

ChapmaA
Wipfli signature stamp
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 Federal AL 

Number 
Pass-through/ 

Grantor 
Number 

Total  
Federal 

Expenditures 

Amount 
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Provided to 
Grantor/Program Title or Cluster Title Subrecipients 
     
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency   
   
Passed through Maine Department of Health and 
  Human Services Passed through 

  

  Maine Municipal Bond Bank   
   
  Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State 
    Revolving Funds 

 
66.468 

 
N/A 

            
$10,862 

 
       $         - 

     
U.S. Department of Agriculture     
     
Regional Conservation Partnership Program 10.932 N/A  1,860,700          - 
     
Total Expenditures of Federal Awards   $1,871,562 $         - 
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NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award 
activity of Portland Water District under programs of the federal government for the year ended December 
31, 2021. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected 
portion of the operations of Portland Water District, it is not intended to, and does not present the financial 
position, changes in financial position, or cash flow of Portland Water District. 
 
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

1) Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such 
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, 
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 

 
2) Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available. 

 
NOTE 3 – INDIRECT COST RATE 
 
The District has not elected to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under Uniform Guidance. 
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SECTION I   Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
Financial Statements     
     
Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified 
Internal control over financial reporting:     
 Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  No 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified  Yes  None reported 
     
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?  Yes  No 
     
Federal Awards     
     
Internal control over major programs:     
 Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  No 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified  Yes  None reported 
     
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified 
     
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported     
 in accordance with Section 2 CFR 200.516(a)?  Yes  No 
     
Identification of major programs:     
     
AL Number(s)               Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
  
10.932 Regional Conservation Partnership Program 

 
 Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
 Type A and Type B programs: $750,000 

 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  Yes  No 
 
 
 
SECTION II    Financial Statement Findings 
 
No matters reportable for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
SECTION III    Federal Awards Findings 
 
No matters reportable for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES / AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item: 6D Resolution 22-009 

Date of Meeting:  May 23, 2022 

Subject:  North Windham Wastewater Treatment Facility Project – 

State Revolving Loan Fund  

Presented By:  David Kane, Treasurer  

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

The following proposed language is presented for Board of Trustee approval: 
 

WHEREAS, an evaluation has been completed for a North Windham wastewater 

treatment facility: and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town intends to proceed with construction; and 

 

WHEREAS, the DEP has offered to finance up to $38.9 million with the requirement that 

the application be submitted by May 6;  

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees ratifies and 

approves the actions of the General Manager’s signing of the Applicant Agreement to 

Comply with 2022 Clean Water State Revolving Fund Requirements indicating the 

District’s intent to borrow up to $38.9 million. 

 

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS 

The District has been working with the Town to evaluate wastewater treatment facilities to serve 

the North Windham area per the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) approved May 26th, 

2020 (Order 20-020). The evaluation had created a preliminary design resulting in a project with 

an estimated cost of more than $40 million. An overview of the project was provided at the 

Board’s April 11, 2022 workshop meeting.  

 

The project was submitted to the Maine Department of Environment Protect (DEP) for financing 

through the state revolving loan fund (SRF). After reviewing all the submittals, DEP chose this 

project for SRF funding that includes a low interest loan and grants. The Town and PWD Staff 

recommend accepting the financing package and PWD’s General Manager has signed the 

‘Applicant Intent to Apply’, which had to be accepted by May 6, 2022.   
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FISCAL REVIEW/ FUNDING   
It is expected that the project will be bond financed along with anticipated federal grant 

assistance. The estimated bond is expected to be approximately $25M to $35M, with annual debt 

service payments between $1.3 and $1.8 million. Per the District’s Charter, the amount will be 

assessed and paid by the town of Windham, who are aware of their obligation. 

 

LEGAL REVIEW 

Corporate Counsel has reviewed and approved the form of motion.  

 

CONCLUSION(S) 

Staff recommends authorizing the proposed motion. The Committee recommended the motion be 

forwarded to the full Board for its consideration. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S) 

None 
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES / AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item: 6E Order 22-024 

Date of Meeting:  May 23, 2022 

Subject:  Professional Services Contracts – Engineering Method 

Approval – 2022 State Revolving Fund Design/Bid/Build 

Projects 

Presented By:  Paul Rodriguez, Sr. Project Engineer 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

The following proposed language is presented for Board of Trustee approval: 
 

ORDERED, that the Comprehensive Method is authorized for the procurement of 

engineering services for the SLWTF Windham Pump Upgrades (122\3211), Cape 

Elizabeth WWTF Aeration and Clarification Upgrades (424\3188), and the East End 

WWTF Return Sludge Piping Replacement (21\3148) Projects, pursuant to the District’s 

Purchasing Policy, and that the General Manager and the Treasurer, each acting singly, 

are authorized to take such other steps as may be necessary to accomplish the intent of 

this vote. 

 

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS 

Pursuant to the District’s purchasing policy, staff is seeking approval from the Board of Trustees 

to procure engineering services for the design, bidding and construction administration 

(Comprehensive Method) for the SLWTF Windham Pump Upgrades, Cape Elizabeth WWTF 

Aeration and Clarification Upgrades, and the East End WWTF Return Sludge Piping 

Replacement Projects. The Comprehensive Method for engineering would result in one 

engineering consulting firm that would provide all the engineering services for the project from 

design to startup of the upgrade.  

 

The Windham Pump Upgrades are focused on addressing the resiliency of that pumping system 

leveraging available space in the pump gallery. The Cape Elizabeth WWTF upgrades will focus 

on replacement of equipment beyond its expected service life and associated electrical and 

instrumentation improvements. The East End RAS piping is nearing the end of its expected 

service life; the proposed project will proactively replace the piping and also provide improved 

means of flow split between the aeration trains. 

 

Once the Method is approved, staff will issue a request for qualifications. It is expected that 

recommendations will be offered to the Board this coming fall and winter.  
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FISCAL REVIEW/ FUNDING   
The Projects were included in the 2022 CIP and will be submitted for State Revolving Fund 

financing. 

 

LEGAL REVIEW 

Corporate Counsel has reviewed and approved the form of motion.  

 

CONCLUSION(S) 

Staff recommends that comprehensive engineering method be utilized to design and build the 

Projects. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

None 
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES / AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item: 6F Order 22-025 

Date of Meeting:  May 23, 2022  

Subject: Revision of Portland Water District Wastewater Disposal 

System Rules on the Shores of Sebago Lake  

Presented By: Nate Whalen, Water Resources Specialist 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

The following proposed language is presented for Board of Trustee approval: 

 

ORDERED, that the Portland Water District Wastewater Disposal System Rules 

related to the shore of Sebago Lake are hereby amended and approved in substantial 

form as the Rules attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

 
BACKGROUND 
The Portland Water District has legal authority to create and enforce rules for proper disposal of 

waste and drainage within 200’ of Sebago Lake pursuant to provisions of 1913 Private & Special 

Law, Chapter 157, Section 3, the District’s charter, and a court case Docket #1201 decided by 

Superior Court in Kennebec County. The rules are designed to protect public health and safety by 

preserving the quality of water in Sebago Lake, the source of supply for the Portland Water 

District’s Greater Portland drinking water system. These rules establish the requirements and 

procedures for obtaining Portland Water District approval for the installation of new or replacement 

subsurface wastewater disposal systems and their components within 200 feet of Sebago Lake.  

 

Amendments to the rules include clarification language for what is considered the lake and what is 

considered a river and/or stream as well as aligning the definition of a bedroom to match the State’s 

subsurface wastewater disposal system code for leach field sizing.    

 

ANALYSIS 
The amendments will help clarify the procedures for approval and compliance with the Portland 

Water District’s wastewater disposal system rules.   

 

FISCAL REVIEW / FUNDING  
No fiscal impact. 

 

LEGAL REVIEW 
Corporate Counsel has reviewed the amendments and has approved of the proposed order. 
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CONCLUSION(S) 
Such amendments are consistent with the goals of the Portland Water District and staff recommends 

the proposed changes. The Committee voted unanimously to forward to the full Board for their 

consideration. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S) 

Septic System Permit Regulations March 2022 – marked revisions   

Septic System Permit Regulations March 2022 – clean   

 

 

 



 

 Portland Water District  
Wastewater Disposal System Permit Rules 

Policies and Procedures 
 

  

  

  
PURPOSE and APPLICABILITY : 

 

These rRules are designed to protect public health and safety by preserving the quality of water 

in Sebago Lake, the source of supply for the Portland Water District’s Greater Portland drinking 

water system.  It outlines theThese Rules establish the  requirements and procedures for 

obtaining Board of TrusteePortland Water District  approval for the installation within 200 feet 

of Sebago Lake of new or replacement subsurface wastewater disposal systems and their 

components within 200 feet of Sebago Lake.  It further statesThese Rules further define the 

requirement that all construction activities mustshall be planned and undertaken in such a 

manner that there is no adverse impact on the quality of water in Sebago Lake and its tributaries.  

These Rrules are designed to  protect public health and safety by ensuring that adequate 

provision has been made for the proper disposal of drainage and waste.   These Rules shall 

apply to all property within two hundred (200) feet of the normal high water line of Sebago 

Lake. Also, the following river segments:  Crooked River, Casco and Naples, from Sebago Lake 

to State Park Rd. bridgeRoute 302; Northwest River, Sebago, from Sebago Lake to the dam; 

Jordan River, Raymond, from Sebago Lake to the Route 302 bridgedam; Sebago CoveMuddy 

River, Naples; Songo River, Naples, from Sebago Lake to the Locks; Stickey River, Standish; 

and all minor tributaries leading to the abovementioned water bodies or Sebago Lake directly 

where there is no change of elevation based on the normal high water line. 

  

 

  
AUTHORITY: 

 

This program derives its enforceability The Portland Water District (the “District”) has authority 

to create and enforce these Rules pursuant to the provisions of  from 1913 Private & Special 

Laws 1913, Chapter 157, Section 3.  In addition, authority arises from the District's Charter; 

Subchapter IV of Chapter 601, of Title 22 MRSA and the Rules and Regulations of the Maine 

Department of Human Services, Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules, IOCMR 241, 

adopted pursuant to section 42 of Title 22 MRSA. These rules apply to Frye Island by virtue of a 

court decision in the Kennebec County Superior Court, Docket #1201, entitled State ex. rel. 

Attorney General and Portland Water District v. Leisure Living Communities, Inc., Et AL. 

 

 
LIABILITY of the DISTRICT: 

 

The District, its employees or agents, shall not be liable for any damage, injuries, or loss arising 

out of any act or omission by the District, its employees or applicant, in connection with the 

creation or administration of these Rules.is program. 



 

  
 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
DEFINITIONS: 
 
The following definitions are utilized by the District in the administration of these Rules: 

 

 A.  Applicant - Person who signs and submits an application for permit to construct, install or 

alter a subsurface wastewater disposal system. 

 

 B.   Backfill - Soil material which is suitable for use in disposal fields, (See section 11205.0 

Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules). 

 

 C.   Bedroom – For the purpose of this program, ANY room other than a kitchen, living 

room, dining room, or bath(s) which is private and could be used as sleeping quarters.  A room 

with no door on a doorway with a minimum of 44 inches shall not be considered private under 

this definition. Any room within a dwelling unit, or any room in an accessory structure to a 

dwelling unit, that serves primarily as sleeping quarters.  

 

 D.   Best Management Practices (BMP's) - Erosion and sedimentation control practices 

designed into project design, planning and construction. Projects include anything where soil is 

added or disturbed. 

 

 E.   Component - One part of a subsurface wastewater disposal system. 

 

 F.   Department - State of Maine Department of Human Services, Bureau of Health, Division 

of Health Engineering. 

 

 G.   Disposal Field -An individual subsurface wastewater disposal system component, 

consisting of a closed excavation made within soil or fill material, in which distribution pipes or 

approved proprietary devices have been placed for the disposal of septic tank effluent. 

 

 H.   District - The Portland Water District. 

 

 I.    Great Pond - Any inland body of water that, in a natural state, has a surface area in 

excess of ten (10) acres and any inland body of water artificially formed or increased that has a 

surface area in excess of thirty (30) acres. 



 

 J.    Holding Tank - A closed, water-tight structure designed and used to receive and store 

waste or septic tank effluent. 

 

 K.    HHE-200 - A form which is the result of a site evaluation and an abbreviation for a 

subsurface wastewater disposal system permit application required by the Department. 

 

 L.    Jurisdiction - All structures, suitable for man or beastpersons or animals, systems, or 

components thereof, within two hundred (200) feet of the normal high water line of Sebago 

Lake. Also, the following river segments:  Crooked River, Casco and Naples, from Sebago Lake 

to State Park Rd. bridge; Northwest River, Sebago, from Sebago Lake to the dam; Jordan River, 

Raymond, from Sebago Lake to the Route 302 bridge; Sebago Cove, Naples; Songo River, 

Naples, from Sebago Lake to the Locks; Sticky River, Standish; and all minor tributaries leading 

to the abovementioned water bodies or Sebago Lake directly where there is no change of 

elevation based on the normal high water line.Crooked River, Casco and Naples, from Sebago 

Lake to Route 302; Northwest River, Sebago, from Sebago Lake to the dam; Jordan River, 

Raymond, from Sebago Lake to the dam; Muddy River, Naples; Songo River, Naples, from 

Sebago Lake to the Locks; Stickey River, Standish; and all minor tributaries leading to the 

abovementioned water bodies or Sebago Lake directly where there is no change of elevation 

based on the normal high water line. 

 

 M.    Letter of No Objection - (1) Letter of No Objection (Frye Island) - the District's 

response to an Application for property on Frye Island, after reviewing soils information and 

system design for minimum lot size waiver to be granted by the Department of Human Services 

that the District has no objection to the proposed construction. (2) Letter of No Objection - The 

District's response to an Application seeking approval of plans pertaining to structures housing 

persons or animals, or areas used to house, maintain or confine pets, animals or beasts of any 

kind, within the District's Jurisdiction. 

 

 N.    Lined Disposal Field - A filtration layer of backfill placed directly beneath and adjacent 

to the disposal field. 

 

 O.    Natural Resources Protection Act - An act which governs and protects natural 

resources, Article 5-A of Subchapter I of Chapter 3 of Title 38. 

 

 P.    Nonpoint Source Pollution - Pollution that cannot be traced to a specific origin or 

starting point, but appears to flow from many different sources. Nonpoint source pollution is the 

bacteria, viruses, nutrients, metals, sediments, and toxics carried by stormwater from developed 

areas, farms, timber harvesting sites, marinas, boat yards, faulty septic systems, and other diffuse 

sources. 

 

 Q.   Normal High Water Line - That line on the shore or bank that is apparent from visible 

markings, changes in the character of soil, rock, or vegetation resulting from submersion or the 

prolonged erosion action of the water; or an elevation of 266.5 feet above mean sea level. 

 

 R.   Owner - For purpose of this program, tThe person(s) who owns a particular property 



which is the subject of a permit application.. 

 

 S.   Permit - For purpose of this program, aA document which gives written permission to 

install a subsurface wastewater disposal system or component thereof. 

 

 T.   Permit by Rule (PBR) - An approval for a type of activity described in Chapter 305 of 

the Natural Resources Protection Act for the State of Maine. 

 

 U.   Point Source Pollution - Pollution discharged directly to water bodies from specific, 

identifiable pipes or points, such as an industrial facility or municipal sewage treatment plant. 

 

 V.   Seasonal Conversion - Written Authorization (permit) allowing the conversion of a 

seasonal dwelling (occupied less than seven (7) months in a calendar year) to year-round use. 

 

 W.   Septic Tank - A water-tight receptacle that receives the discharge of untreated 

wastewater. Designed and installed so as to permit settling of settleable solids from discharge of 

the liquid portion into a disposal field. 

 

 X.   Shoreland Zone Area - All land area within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal 

high water line of any great pond, river, or salt water body; or within 250 feet, horizontal 

distance, of the upland edge of a freshwater or coastal wetland: excluding any forested wetland: 

or within75 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high water line of a stream or as designated 

by a municipality, 

 

 Y.   Site Evaluation - The practice of investigating, evaluating, and reporting the basic soil 

and site conditions that apply to wastewater treatment and disposal along with a system design in 

compliance with state code. 

 

 Z.   Soil Profile - A vertical cross section of the undisturbed soil showing the characteristic 

soil horizontal layers or soil horizons that have formed as a result of the combined effects of 

parent material, topography, climate, biological activity and time. 

 

 AA.  Subsurface Wastewater Disposal System - Any system designed to dispose of waste or 

wastewater on or beneath the surface of the earth; includes, but is not limited to: septic tanks; 

disposal fields; grandfathered cesspools; holding tanks; pre-treatment filer; piping, or any other 

fixture, mechanism or apparatus used for those purposes (from now on referred to as "System"). 

 

 BB. System - See "Subsurface Wastewater Disposal System." 

 

PERMIT REQUIRED 

 

Before construction of any kind of structure is undertaken on property that is within the 

jurisdiction defined in these Rules, the Owner shall apply to and must receive from the District  

a permit. Permits are required for any new wastewater disposal system or replacement system or 

system components designed to dispose of waste or wastewater on or beneath the surface of the 

earth; includesing, but is not limited to: septic tanks; disposal fields and holding tanks. Permits 



must be obtained prior to the disturbance of any soil on the property or the commencement of 

construction. 

 

 This permit is in addition to any permit required by any municipality for the proposed 

construction. 

 

The Owner/Applicant shall follow the provisions of these rules and the Department of Human 

Services Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules. 

 

  If a system or component is installed without District notification and the receipt of a permit 

from the District, Owner/Applicant will be required to properly apply for such permit (after the 

fact), and uncover the system or component for inspection by the District. 

 

 

 

 
APPLICATION/PERMIT REQUIREMENTS: 

 

A.   The Owner/Applicant shall certify that they have reviewed these rules when submitting an 

application to the District  All requirements contained in these Rules must be met before a 

system or component construction permit will be issued by the District.  

 

B.  Application must be made in writing and shall include: 

 

1)  Signed District permit application 

   2)  Signed HHE-200 form (soils information and system design) 

   3)  Signed Variance Form (if required) 

   4)  Building plans or sketch of floor plan 

   5)  An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan. This MUST be submitted prior to any soil 

disturbance. 

   6) Proof that Owner/Applicant has applied to the municipality for a permit as required by 

local ordinance. 

 

C.  Standards for Issuance: 

 

1)  Systems shall meet the basic design requirements of the Maine Subsurface Wastewater 

Disposal Rules; and 

 

2)  A system design using 120 gallons per day per bedroom will be REQUIRED if the  

 disposal field is LESS THAN two hundred (200) feet from the normal high water line. A 

90 GPD per bedroom system design is acceptable for disposal fields GREATER than two 

hundred (200) feet from the normal high water line; and 

 

   3)  Designs showing soil profile 6 shall have a LINED disposal field; and  

 

   4)  An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan, which may be included on the HHE-200 

septic design plan, shall be submitted to the District for re  view prior to any soil disturbance. 



 

 

LETTERS OF NO OBJECTION – AREAS OR STRUCTURES DESIGNED FOR 

ANIMALS 
 

The Owner/Applicant shall apply in writing to the District for a Letter of No Objection 

pertaining to structures or areas within the jurisdiction defined by these Rules used to house, 

maintain, or confine  animals of any kind.  A plan showing project location, 

maintenance/cleaning, and disposal of waste shall be included as part of the process.   Review 

and site visit shall be completed within three (3) working days of receiving all paperwork from 

the Owner/Applicant. 

 

 

  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADMINISTRATION: 

 

An employee of the District, having properly identified himself, shall have free access during the 

District's normal business hours, to all premises within District jurisdiction for which permits are 

applicable to facilitate the inspection process. The Owner/Applicant shall follow the provisions 

of these rules and the Department of Human Services Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules. 

 

Currently, there is NO fee for a District permit or letter of no objection. 

  

  



RESPONSIBILITIES: 

 
Owner/Applicant Responsibilities During the Permit Process 
 

A.   The Owner/Applicant should read District application requirements before completing and 

signing. These requirements contained in this Section must be met before a system or component 

construction permit will be issued (See "Application/Permit requirements").  The District permit 

may be obtained before or after obtaining a municipal permit but MUST be obtained prior to 

initiating construction or soil disturbance. shall file a permit application as required by these 

Rules.   

 

B.   The Owner/Applicant shall notify the District twenty-four (24) hours before inspection is to 

be made. The Ssystem or component must be uncovered and accessible for proper inspection by 

District personnel. The District reserves the right to accept town inspections. 

 

C.   If system or component is installed without District notification and permit, 

Owner/Applicant will be required to properly apply for such permit (after the fact), and uncover 

the system or component for inspection. 

 

D. An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan shall be submitted to the District for review prior 

to any soil disturbance. 

 

C.   All construction activities shall be planned and undertaken in such a manner that there is no 

adverse impact on the quality of water in Sebago Lake and its tributaries. 

 

 

  
District Responsibilities: 

 

A.   An employee of the District, having properly identified themselves, shall have free access 

during the District's normal business hours, to all premises within District jurisdiction for which 

permits are applicable to facilitate the inspection process of the work for which a permit is 

required, unless otherwise arranged with the Owner/Applicant. 

 

B.  The District shall review a permit application and respond required information and make a 

site visit and reply  within three (3) working days. The response may consist of  the issuance of 

Aa construction permit,  will be issued or the denial of a permit. iIf corrections are necessary in 

order for the construction to go forward and a permit issued, , the Owner/Applicant will be 

properly informed and the District will work with them to facilitate the required correction.. 

 

B.   The District's inspections involving systems, or components thereof, shall be made during 

the District's normal working hours unless otherwise arranged with the Owner/Applicant. The 

District reserves the right to accept town inspections. 

 
  

 
 



APPLICATION/PERMIT REQUIREMENTS: 

 

A.   The Owner/Applicant shall read District application requirements and these rules before 

submitting an application.  Requirements must be met before a system or component 

construction permit will be issued. Permits are required for any new system or replacement 

system or system components designed to dispose of waste or wastewater on or beneath the 

surface of the earth; includes, but is not limited to: septic tanks; disposal fields and holding tanks. 

 

B.  Application must be made in writing and shall include: 

 

1)  Signed District permit application 

   2)  Signed HHE-200 form (soils information and system design) 

   3)  Signed Variance Form (if required) 

   4)  Building plans or sketch of floor plan 

   5)  An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan 

 

C.  Standards: 

 

1)  Systems shall meet the basic design requirements of the Maine Subsurface Wastewa ter 

Disposal Rules; and 

 

       

2)  For purposes of system design, ANY room other than a kitchen, living room, dining  room, 

or bath(s) which is private and could be used as sleeping quarters will be  counted as a 

bedroom; and 

 

3)  A system design using 120 gallons per day per bedroom will be REQUIRED if the  

 disposal field is LESS THAN two hundred (200) feet from the normal high water line. A 

90 GPD per bedroom system design is acceptable for disposal fields  GREATER than two 

hundred (200) feet from the normal high water line; and 

 

   4)  Designs showing soil profile 6 shall have a LINED disposal field; and  

 

   5)  An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan, which may be included on the HHE-200 

septic design plan, shall be submitted to the District for re  view prior to any soil disturbance. 

 

Areas or Structures Designed for Animals  

 

The Owner/Applicant shall apply in writing to the District for a Letter of No Objection 

pertaining to structures or areas used to house, maintain, or confine pets, animals, or beasts of 

any kind within District jurisdiction.   A plan showing project location, 

mainteancemaintenance/cleaning, and disposal of waste shall be included as part of the process.   

Review and site visit shall be completed within three (3) working days of receiving all 

paperwork from the Owner/Applicant. 

 

 



PORTLAND WATER DISTRICT 
 

WASTEWATER DISPOSAL SYSTEM  
 

PERMIT PROTOCOL 
Portland Water District 

Main  Office: 

225 Douglass Street 

PO Box 3553 

Portland, Maine 04104-3553 

 

Lake Office: 

1 White Rock Road 

Standish, Maine  04084 
Revised  April,  2011 
ACTIVITIES NOT REQUIRING DISTRICT PERMITS: 

 

A.  District approval is required for any structure to be constructed within 200 feet of the normal 

high water line of Sebago Lake.   A District permit is not required Ffor construction activities 

not involving components of a subsurface wastewater disposal system and for which a building 

permit is required from the municipality., however, a separate permit shall not be required from 

the District.  However, t The District reserves the right to review plans and inspect properties 

before, during, and after municipally permitted construction activities are undertaken.   

 

B.    Other projects undertaken within the jurisdiction defined in these Rules 200 feet of Sebago 

Lake have the potential to adversely impact the water quality of Sebago Lake.  Examples 

include but are not limited to  soil disturbance, placement or replacement of wells or intake 

pipes, movement of rocks or vegetation, outfall pipes, riprap projects, retaining wall restoration, 

docks, ramps or any other activity which may affect water quality. Although these activities do 

not require the issuance of a permit by the District, Ssuch activity shall be made in a safe and 

sanitary manner which is consistent with the State and municipal rules and ordinances.  For 

activities requiring a Department of Environmental Protection or municipal permit, a separate 

permit shall not be required from the District.   However, tThe District reserves the right to 

review plans and inspect properties before, during, and after permitted activities permitted by 

other authorities are undertaken.   

 

C.   All construction activities shall be planned and undertaken in such a manner that there is no 

adverse impact on the quality of water in Sebago Lake and its tributaries. 

 

  

 

-NOTES- 
 

 
Portland Water District Wastewater Disposal System Permit Protocol 

 



 

 Portland Water District  
Wastewater Disposal System Permit Rules 

 
 

PURPOSE and APPLICABILITY : 

 

These Rules are designed to protect public health and safety by preserving the quality of water in 

Sebago Lake, the source of supply for the Portland Water District’s Greater Portland drinking 

water system. These Rules establish the requirements and procedures for obtaining Portland 

Water District approval for the installation of new or replacement subsurface wastewater 

disposal systems and their components within 200 feet of Sebago Lake. These Rules further 

define the requirement that all construction activities must be planned and undertaken in a 

manner that there is no adverse impact on the quality of water in Sebago Lake and its tributaries.  

These Rules are designed to protect public health and safety by ensuring that adequate provision 

has been made for the proper disposal of drainage and waste. These Rules shall apply to all 

property within two hundred (200) feet of the normal high water line of Sebago Lake. This 

includes the following river segments: Crooked River to the State Park Road bridge; Northwest 

River to the dam; Jordan River to Route 302; Sebago Cove to Lakehouse Road; Songo River 

Bayou, Songo River to the Locks; Sticky River to Rt. 114 and all minor tributaries leading to the 

abovementioned water bodies or Sebago Lake directly where there is no change of elevation 

based on the normal high water line. 

  
AUTHORITY: 
 

The Portland Water District (the “District”) has authority to create and enforce these Rules 

pursuant to the provisions of 1913 Private & Special Law, Chapter 157, Section 3. In addition, 

authority arises from the District's Charter; Subchapter IV of Chapter 601, of Title 22 MRS and 

the Rules and Regulations of the Maine Department of Human Services, Maine Subsurface 

Wastewater Disposal Rules, IOCMR 241, adopted pursuant to section 42 of Title 22 MRS. These 

rules apply to Frye Island by virtue of a court decision in the Kennebec County Superior Court, 

Docket #1201, entitled State ex. rel. Attorney General and Portland Water District v. Leisure 

Living Communities, Inc., Et AL. 

 

 
LIABILITY of the DISTRICT: 

 

The District, its employees or agents shall not be liable for any damage, injuries, or loss arising 

out of any act or omission by the District, its employees or applicant, in connection with the 

creation or administration of these Rules.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DEFINITIONS: 
 
The following definitions are utilized by the District in the administration of these Rules: 

 

 A.  Applicant - Person who signs and submits an application for permit to construct, install or 

alter a subsurface wastewater disposal system. 

 

 B.   Backfill - Soil material which is suitable for use in disposal fields, (See section 11205.0 

Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules). 

 

 C.   Bedroom –. Any room within a dwelling unit, or any room in an accessory structure to a 

dwelling unit, that serves primarily as sleeping quarters.  

 

 D.   Best Management Practices (BMP's) - Erosion and sedimentation control practices 

designed into project design, planning and construction. Projects include anything where soil is 

added or disturbed. 

 

 E.   Component - One part of a subsurface wastewater disposal system. 

 

 F.   Department - State of Maine Department of Human Services, Bureau of Health, Division 

of Health Engineering. 

 

 G.   Disposal Field -An individual subsurface wastewater disposal system component, 

consisting of a closed excavation made within soil or fill material, in which distribution pipes or 

approved proprietary devices have been placed for the disposal of septic tank effluent. 

 

 H.   District - The Portland Water District. 

 

 I.    Great Pond - Any inland body of water that, in a natural state, has a surface area in 

excess of ten (10) acres and any inland body of water artificially formed or increased that has a 

surface area in excess of thirty (30) acres. 

 

 J.    Holding Tank - A closed, water-tight structure designed and used to receive and store 

waste or septic tank effluent. 

 

 K.    HHE-200 - A form which is the result of a site evaluation and an abbreviation for a 

subsurface wastewater disposal system permit application required by the Department. 

 

 L.    Jurisdiction - All structures, suitable for persons or animals, systems, or components 

thereof, within two hundred (200) feet of the normal high water line of Sebago Lake. This 

includes the following river segments: Crooked River to the State Park Road bridge; Northwest 

River to the dam; Jordan River to Route 302; Sebago Cove to Lakehouse Road; Songo River 

Bayou, Songo River to the Locks; Sticky River to Rt. 114 and all minor tributaries leading to the 

abovementioned water bodies or Sebago Lake directly where there is no change of elevation 

based on the normal high water line. 

   

 



 M.    Letter of No Objection - The District's response to an Application seeking approval of 

plans pertaining to structures housing persons or animals, or areas used to house, maintain or 

confine animals of any kind, within the District's Jurisdiction. 

 

 

 O.    Natural Resources Protection Act - An act which governs and protects natural 

resources, Article 5-A of Subchapter I of Chapter 3 of Title 38. 

 

 P.    Nonpoint Source Pollution - Pollution that cannot be traced to a specific origin or 

starting point, but appears to flow from many different sources. Nonpoint source pollution is the 

bacteria, viruses, nutrients, metals, sediments, and toxics carried by stormwater from developed 

areas, farms, timber harvesting sites, marinas, boat yards, faulty septic systems, and other diffuse 

sources. 

 

 Q.   Normal High Water Line - That line on the shore or bank that is apparent from visible 

markings, changes in the character of soil, rock, or vegetation resulting from submersion or the 

prolonged erosion action of the water; or an elevation of 266.5 feet above mean sea level. 

 

 R.   Owner - The person(s) who owns a particular property which is the subject of a permit 

application. 

 

 S.   Permit - A document which gives written permission to install a subsurface wastewater 

disposal system or component thereof. 

 

 T.   Permit by Rule (PBR) - An approval for a type of activity described in Chapter 305 of 

the Natural Resources Protection Act for the State of Maine. 

 

 U.   Point Source Pollution - Pollution discharged directly to water bodies from specific, 

identifiable pipes or points, such as an industrial facility or municipal sewage treatment plant. 

 

 V.   Seasonal Conversion - Written Authorization (permit) allowing the conversion of a 

seasonal dwelling (occupied less than seven (7) months in a calendar year) to year-round use. 

 

 W.   Septic Tank - A water-tight receptacle that receives the discharge of untreated 

wastewater. Designed and installed so as to permit settling of settleable solids from discharge of 

the liquid portion into a disposal field. 

 

 X.   Shoreland Zone Area - All land area within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal 

high water line of any great pond, river, or salt water body; or within 250 feet, horizontal 

distance, of the upland edge of a freshwater or coastal wetland: excluding any forested wetland: 

or within75 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high water line of a stream or as designated 

by a municipality, 

 

 Y.   Site Evaluation - The practice of investigating, evaluating, and reporting the basic soil 

and site conditions that apply to wastewater treatment and disposal along with a system design in 

compliance with state code. 



 

 Z.   Soil Profile - A vertical cross section of the undisturbed soil showing the characteristic 

soil horizontal layers or soil horizons that have formed as a result of the combined effects of 

parent material, topography, climate, biological activity and time. 

 

 AA.  Subsurface Wastewater Disposal System - Any system designed to dispose of waste or 

wastewater on or beneath the surface of the earth; includes, but is not limited to: septic tanks; 

disposal fields; grandfathered cesspools; holding tanks; pre-treatment filer; piping, or any other 

fixture, mechanism or apparatus used for those purposes (from now on referred to as "System"). 

 

 BB. System - See "Subsurface Wastewater Disposal System." 

 

 

PERMIT REQUIRED 

 

Before construction of any kind of structure is undertaken on property that is within the 

jurisdiction defined in these Rules, the Owner shall apply to and must receive from the District  

a permit. Permits are required for any new wastewater disposal system or replacement system or 

system components designed to dispose of waste or wastewater on or beneath the surface of the 

earth; including, but is not limited to: septic tanks; disposal fields and holding tanks. Permits 

must be obtained prior to the disturbance of any soil on the property or the commencement of 

construction. 

 

This permit is in addition to any permit required by any municipality for the proposed 

construction. 

 

The Owner/Applicant shall follow the provisions of these rules and the Department of Human 

Services Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules. 

 

If a system or component is installed without District notification and the receipt of a permit 

from the District, Owner/Applicant will be required to properly apply for such permit (after the 

fact), and uncover the system or component for inspection by the District. 

 

 

 

 
APPLICATION/PERMIT REQUIREMENTS: 

 

A.   The Owner/Applicant shall certify that they have reviewed these rules when submitting an 

application to the District  All requirements contained in these Rules must be met before a 

system or component construction permit will be issued by the District.  

 

B.  Application must be made in writing and shall include: 

 

1)  Signed District permit application 

   2)  Signed HHE-200 form (soils information and system design) 

   3)  Signed Variance Form (if required) 



   4)  Building plans or sketch of floor plan 

   5)  An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan. This must be submitted prior to any soil 

disturbance. 

 

C.  Standards for Issuance: 

 

1)  Systems shall meet the basic design requirements of the Maine Subsurface Wastewater 

Disposal Rules; and 

 

2)  A system design using 120 gallons per day per bedroom will be REQUIRED if the  

 disposal field is LESS THAN two hundred (200) feet from the normal high water line. A 

90 GPD per bedroom system design is acceptable for disposal fields GREATER than two 

hundred (200) feet from the normal high water line; and 

 

 

   4)  An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan, which may be included on the HHE-200 

septic design plan, shall be submitted to the District for review prior to any soil disturbance. 

 

 

LETTERS OF NO OBJECTION – AREAS OR STRUCTURES DESIGNED FOR 

ANIMALS 
 

The Owner/Applicant shall apply in writing to the District for a Letter of No Objection 

pertaining to structures or areas within the jurisdiction defined by these Rules used to house, 

maintain, or confine animals of any kind. A plan showing project location, 

maintenance/cleaning, and disposal of waste shall be included as part of the process. Review and  

response shall be completed within three (3) working days of receiving all paperwork from the 

Owner/Applicant. 
 

 
RESPONSIBILITIES: 

 
Owner/Applicant Responsibilities During the Permit Process 
 

A.   The Owner/Applicant shall file a permit application as required by these Rules.   

 

B.   The Owner/Applicant shall notify the District twenty-four (24) hours before inspection is to 

be made. The system or component must be uncovered and accessible for proper inspection by 

District personnel. The District reserves the right to accept town inspections. 

 

 

C.   All construction activities shall be planned and undertaken in such a manner that there is no 

adverse impact on the quality of water in Sebago Lake and its tributaries. 

 

 

 

  



District Responsibilities: 

 

A.   An employee of the District, having properly identified themselves, shall have free access 

during the District's normal business hours, to all premises within District jurisdiction for which 

permits are applicable to facilitate the inspection process of the work for which a permit is 

required, unless otherwise arranged with the Owner/Applicant. 

 

B.  The District shall review a permit application and respond within three (3) working days. 

The response may consist of the issuance of a construction permit, or the denial of a permit. If 

corrections are necessary in order for the construction to go forward and a permit issued, the 

Owner/Applicant will be informed and the District will work with them to facilitate the required 

correction. 

 

ACTIVITIES NOT REQUIRING DISTRICT PERMITS: 

 

A.   A District permit is not required for construction activities not involving components of a 

subsurface wastewater disposal system and for which a building permit is required from the 

municipality. The District reserves the right to review plans and inspect properties before, 

during, and after municipally permitted construction activities are undertaken.   

 

B.    Other projects undertaken within the jurisdiction defined in these Rules  have the 

potential to adversely impact the water quality of Sebago Lake. Examples include but are not 

limited to soil disturbance, placement or replacement of wells or intake pipes, movement of 

rocks or vegetation, outfall pipes, riprap projects, retaining wall restoration, docks, ramps or any 

other activity which may affect water quality. Although these activities do not require the 

issuance of a permit by the District, such activity shall be made in a safe and sanitary manner 

which is consistent with the State and municipal rules and ordinances. The District reserves the 

right to review plans and inspect properties before, during, and after activities permitted by other 

authorities are undertaken.   

 

 

 

-NOTES- 
 

 
Portland Water District Wastewater Disposal System Permit Protocol 

 



 

    
 
 

 

 

 

 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES / AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item:   6G Resolution 22-010 

Date of Meeting:  May 23, 2022 

Subject:   Water Bottle Filling Station Grant  

Presented by:   Michelle Clements, Public Relations Director 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

The following proposed language is presented for Board of Trustee approval: 

 

BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees hereby increases the annual funding limit 

for water bottle filling stations from $7,000 to $10,000.   

 

BACKGROUND 

In May of 2013, the Board of Trustees authorized the development of the Water Bottle Filling 

Station Grant program and subsequent funding not to exceed $7,000 annually for water bottle 

filling equipment. Over eight years, PWD has awarded $43,500 to support the installation of 

approximately 32 fountains. Prices have increased slightly over the years and due to the 

pandemic, trustees approved $12,950 in the maximum awards for 2022 as a way to support and 

respond to community needs. The trustees acknowledge the positive results the program has had 

in the community to expand access to our public tap water, promote our excellent public water, 

celebrate the positive effects to the environment by reducing disposable water bottles, and 

support our community. 

 

FISCAL REVIEW / FUNDING   

Funding of $10,000 will be included in the public relations budget beginning in 2023.  

 

LEGAL REVIEW 

Corporate Counsel has reviewed and approved the proposed motion as to form. 

  

CONCLUSION(S) 

The Water Bottle Filling Station Grant Sub Committee endorses the proposed motion for the full 

Board’s consideration. 
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Executive Search / May 23, 2022 
 

 

 

 
Meeting Purpose:   Review findings of Phase One, Finalize competencies for viable candidates. 
 
Agenda: 
The first two weeks of the executive search project is discovery. This portion of the executive search 
project will be completed at the search committee meeting today.   
Discovery includes: 

 An initial conversation with the search committee on May 9, 2022 to discuss process. 

 Conversations with the leadership team of PWD in order to receive input related to challenges 
and opportunities in the transition. 

 Survey of current Trustees in order to form the assessment (scorecard) for viable candidates. 
and create the job profile used in the development of the candidate slate. 

 Tabulation and summary of findings. 

 Discussion and questions to determine consensus. 

 Draft of the job profile for approval. 
 
 
Data and Summary of Findings (will be attached) 
 
 
Discussion and clarification of findings to follow 
 
 
Follow up items: Draft of job profile for committee approval week of May 23. 
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